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    FOREWORD




    




    




    Railways have played an immense part in the history of New South Wales. The parallel lines extended as the population grew and themselves made possible new settlement and new industries. Railways crossed the mountain barriers that surround Sydney and opened up both the vast hinterland and the northern and southern coasts. Railways joined every part of New South Wales to Sydney in a distinctive, centralized pattern. They also joined New South Wales to the neighbouring colonies and states. As in other countries, railways transformed many social relationships and shaped or helped to shape political and economic developments. Only within recent decades has air transport begun to play a part comparable with that of the railways and sea navigation of the Australian coasts.




    It is easy to see railway history as a record of stormy public controversy. From the beginning, when the first question was whether there should be railways at all, through the controversies over state versus private ownership, the notorious gauge question, the often bitter disputes over choice of route as rival districts competed for the privilege of railway services, the problems of labour relationships and staffing, the promises of politicians and the endless complexities of railway technology, the public has always been involved. Governments have fallen over their handling of railway policy. A recurring theme has been political control of the railways system as opposed to control through independent commissioners or other officers appointed by government. An even more constant theme has been whether railways should earn an adequate commerical return on the enormous sums of capital invested in them, or whether their undoubted contribution to economic growth and prosperity should be allowed to outweigh every other consideration.




    Such questions are still with us. All of them are treated deftly and authoritatively in John Gunn’s readable and fascinating account of the State Rail Authority and its predecessors. Gunn has the skill to blend technical detail with the record of political intrigue, to show the railways as one of the nation’s largest enterprises as well as an institution to which many of us have an almost romantic attraction. Famous locomotives and their drivers appear in the story. So do political leaders and great administrators like Whitton and Eddy. Old controversies, such as those over the siting of the Sydney Terminal and the decision to concentrate railway operations on Sydney live again. So do the wonders of the Lithgow Zig Zag and the planning of the so-called ‘pioneer lines’, cheaply constructed for low-density, long-distance traffic.




    The distinctive merit of John Gunn’s history is that he has held so many important themes together in right proportion. There is plenty of illustrative detail, but detail never over-burdens the clear lines of the narrative. Everything has its right place, from the rise of modern signalling and safe working to railway economics and questions such as how heavy a load could a given locomotive haul unaided over the Blue Mountains. (Whitton settled that question both by calculation and by driving the train himself.) Permanent way, locomotives and rolling stock all have their place in this book. So does the tremendous impact of the coming of the railways on social life.




    Railway operation is a complex task in which some people including every class of railway worker develop high skills. Nevertheless, the complexity of the operation and the tight interdependence of every part of railway operation do involve constant risk of inconvenience, delay and mishap. Last century one irate suburban passenger, who commuted four miles daily, suggested that suburban trains should be composed of sleeping cars and refreshment cars, so that travellers would arrive rested and refreshed. Sharp jests of this kind can still be heard. They have the poignancy of pride of ownership in the state railways mixed with regret that operations are not perfect. The railways belong to everybody.




    This book will find many enthusiastic readers, many of whom are well informed about some part of railway operation. Does any other public utility have so many devoted followers of all ages and occupations? John Gunn’s book has something for them all. What he contributes most is the overall picture of how the railways came to be what they have been and what they are. The State Rail Authority made a wise choice of author when it decided to have a history written of the state railways of New South Wales, warts and all, honestly and accurately.




    John M. Ward




    Vice-Chancellor




    University of Sydney
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    PREFACE




    




    




    Perhaps it was appropriate that when Mrs Keith Stewart, daughter of His Excellency the Governor, Sir Charles Augustus FitzRoy, dug her satin wood spade into the Redfern turf in 1850 to start the construction of Australia’s first steam-operated public railway the heavens opened and the rain poured down. Ever since that day the railways have been the centre of stormy debate. It has always been a political debate and its main theme (though with countless variations) has been this: should the railways operate like every other honest commercial concern and earn some return on the capital invested in them, or should the State treat them as public works necessary for the proper workings of industry and commerce, essential to the provision of ordered and acceptable daily life for the State’s inhabitants?




    That same theme haunts this history to its final pages. Little wonder that it does. The State’s railways have always profoundly affected the lives of its inhabitants, whether they used them or not. It was never just a question of how they contributed to the considerable costs involved, as paying patrons or suffering taxpayers. The railways penetrated the mountain barrier to Sydney’s west, made accessible the hinterland of the plains and extended, to the north and south, to link New South Wales with other States. As they did so, they made possible the great growth of primary industries on which the general wealth of the State was founded.




    By the outbreak of World War I they had determined in its fundamentals the very shape of the State, for all the main lines were in place. Sydney was its hub and main port, its centre of commerce and the city in which its population was concentrated. From 1920, as proliferating car ownership forced governments to fund roads as well as railways, they were sustained politically by an unprecedented national consensus on the need to fill Australia’s empty spaces and develop our rural industries. That same period, through to 1932 (when all remaining country lines of significance had been completed), saw a new dimension to railway development. In suburban Sydney the introduction of electric lines and the inauguration of Sydney’s underground system paralleled the massive development works necessary for the construction of the Sydney Harbour Bridge and made possible the modern city-suburban pattern of life.




    Railways dominated the budgets of the State and the priorities of its politicians. If the public debt grew wonderously under these political pressures, the recompense was visible and the great public works involved were popular. While the growing primary industries brought the railways their main revenue they were, in turn, dependent on rail transport for their existence and development. So massive were the capital demands of the railways that the solvency of the State itself depended on the health of the railway finances.




    World War II, which followed so closely on the completion of both the country and suburban rail systems, was to affect profoundly the promise that they held. The extensive engineering workshops that supported the railways turned to the production of armaments and aircraft. As ever-increasing demands were made on rolling stock and track, so maintenance work declined. When peace came the railways were run down and, relegated by other more pressing national priorities, starved of the funds necessary for their rehabilitation. Railway work practices, in an industry unavoidably labour-intensive, were as out-dated as some of the nineteenth-century rolling stock still in use. The post-war emergence of a growing road freight industry, strengthened by legal victories on Constitutional matters affecting interstate transport, saw a new dimension to competition; freight-forwarding, a new industry that exploited and optimised all transport modes, compounded these commercial pressures. Civil aviation, boosted by technical advances in wartime aircraft, wooed passengers away from the longer rail routes.




    It was not all gloom. Neither civil aviation nor road freighting could meet the demands, in the early 1960s, of a burgeoning minerals industry. Bulk traffic, unprecedented in its scale, brought new and massive additions to railway revenues, with new techniques and larger trains to handle it. The diesel locomotive had, by 1972, completely replaced steam. Operational improvements accompanied technical advances in rolling stock and signalling. Electrification of lines was extended. At the same time much track was upgraded so that heavier loads could travel, using new kinds of rolling stock, at greater speeds. These advances held the line for railways though wider economic forces raised new barriers, not least the rapid surge in wages in the early 1970s, mounting industrial troubles and the increasing sophistication and flexibility in the carriage of general freight by road transport.




    This history attempts to set down how this great railway infrastructure was funded and built when our population was small and our resources limited, how it underpinned our major industries, how it affected our lives and how it dominated the politics and finances of the State.




    Though the decades from World War II have, in the main, been harsh and challenging for railways they have not only survived but they hold the promise of a bright future. In the decade from 1976 an upsurge in capital funding, a new management structure and new technologies have demonstrated that the railways of New South Wales, like railways in many other parts of the world, are re-emerging as vital and dynamic enterprises with defined roles in the bulk carriage of freight, in suburban passenger services and in the expansion of inter-urban passenger systems. What has not changed is the ongoing nature of the public debate.


  




  

    Conversions




    Measurements are given in either the imperial or the metric system, according to which was in use at the time. Approximate conversions follow.




    

      

        

          	Length



          	Weight

        




        

          	1 inch = 25.4 mm



          	1 ounce (oz) = 28.3 g

        




        

          	1 foot = 30.5 cm



          	1 pound (lb) = 454 g

        




        

          	1 yard = 0.914 m



          	1 hundredweight =

        




        

          	1 chain = 20.1 m



          	50.8 kg

        




        

          	1 mile = 1.61 km



          	1 ton = 1.02 t

        




        

          	 



          	Area

        




        

          	Volume



          	1 acre = 0.405 ha

        




        

          	1 gallon = 4.55 1



          	 

        




        

          	1 bushel = 35.2 1



          	Pressure

        




        

          	1 cubic yard = 0.765 m3




          	1 lb/ in2 = 6.89 kPa

        




        

          	 



          	Power

        




        

          	 



          	1 horsepower = 0.746 kW

        


      


    




    Railway gauges:




    narrow gauge, 3 feet 6 inches = 1067 mm




    standard gauge, 4 feet 8 1/2 inches = 1435 mm




    broad gauge, 5 feet 3 inches = 1600 mm




    Money




    There were 12 pennies (d) in one shilling (s), and 20 shillings in one pound (£1). When Australia changed to decimal currency in 1966, $2 was equal to £1.
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    The Railway Archives holds some significant records that illuminate the history of the railways in New South Wales. They include:




    Public Transport Commission Minutes, Agendas and Meeting Papers and senior management papers.




    Sydney Railway Company Letterbooks 1848–1855.
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    Though these sources are still available there has, over the years, been widespread and indiscriminate destruction of records. Some important series of records are incomplete (e. g. the Commissioners’ Correspondence). The relatively small amount of archival material that has survived for such a pervading and enduring enterprise is mainly technical, dealing with contracts, tendering and equipment deliveries. (The Archives, however, do hold a large and impressive array of plans, drawings, diagrams and photographs.) Of the records that have been retained in the past many have been inaccessible for the want of a consistent accessioning system. No account was kept of records transferred to Archives. Those transferred were often dispersed under subject-oriented groupings and scattered throughout a system that was usually inadequately indexed. It has only been in recent years, under the guidance of S.R.A. Archivist Tam Best, that an energetic attack has been made on inherited problems of accessibility and a policy for the collection (or where appropriate, disposal) of records has been put in place with a proper perspective for future needs.




    Nevertheless the central part played by the railways in the development of New South Wales and in its political life has ensured that in the records of the Parliament and the pages of newspapers and other publications, all available in that great institution the Mitchell Library, there is a continuing and rich account of the many dimensions of railway history. It is these sources, in conjunction with the archival material that remains, that have provided the basis for this history. For the great volume of material that has been retrieved and made available to me I most gratefully acknowledge the sustained diligence and high intelligence of my research assistant, Diane Stubbings.




    From the beginning of this project I have been cheered and supported by Doug Neil, a man of wide reading, who retired in 1988 after a long and distinguished career in the railways. I must also thank Professor John Glastonbury for his time and advice. He is not only Dean of Engineering in the University of Sydney, but an energetic and informed railway supporter who played a central part in the bicentennial project for the restoration of the steam locomotive 3801. The drive behind the concept and implementation of this history came, as so many other things affecting the New South Railways have done since 1980, from the then Chief Executive of the State Rail Authority, David Hill. His comments and his candour have been invaluable. Above all I have been sustained throughout this project by the encouragement of Professor John Ward, Vice-Chancellor and Principal of the University of Sydney who, with a wide knowledge and long enthusiasm for railways, has found time to assist the editorial board that guided the project. For any faults or omissions in this history, however, I have only myself to blame; I was given complete editorial freedom for its final content.




    John Gunn




    1989


  




  

    PROLOGUE: AN INFANT SYSTEM


    1813–1855




    




    




    A proscenium of bright flags on high poles, in the open grassed land of a paddock at Redfern, Sydney, marked 3 July 1850 as a viceregal occasion of importance for the colony of New South Wales. The crowd had gathered steadily in heavy rain with a band playing to lift their spirits. Gigs, cabs and carriages arrived from all parts. Ten thousand people were there, the men in many rigs, from high hats and dress coats to check trousers and cotton caps, the women in coal-scuttle bonnets and long, bell-shaped skirts spread wide over layered petticoats (for the steel hoops of the fanned crinoline were almost a decade away still).1 ‘The streets were in a most horrible state’, wrote a participant. ‘The various companies of Foresters and Oddfellows ploughed their way through mud ankle deep . . . banners drooped upon their staves, tinsel lost its glitter, whilst blue, green and red silk scarves, tri-coloured rosettes and other insignia of office presented a very sombre appearance.’ By midday the paddock was a mass of silk, cotton and gingham umbrellas, the petticoats were drag-tailed from the rain and the male legs were mud-cased.2




    A fenced enclosure surrounded the distant splendour of Ultimo House and a two-rail fence defined the boundary of the Ultimo Estate on the Parramatta Road. There was a waterhole near the turn-off to Glebe for washing bullocks after their journey from Parramatta and a toll-bar where the road to Newtown branched off the Parramatta Road below the site of the future university. Along that main thoroughfare were residences and shanties on each side of the road and public houses were ‘as thick as blackberries’, each with great hollowed logs outside for drinking troughs to tempt the horses and detain the riders.3




    Squatters, rich merchants and civil officers of the government outshone the lesser members of the crowd in their dress and their position, outdone only by the uniforms of the naval and military officers. The excitement mounted as, at one o’clock, His Excellency the Governor, Sir Charles Augustus FitzRoy, arrived at the Cleveland Paddock with his daughter, Mrs Keith Stewart. As the ceremony began, the rain bucketed down. Mrs Stewart grasped the satin wood handle of a handsome spade, beautifully engraved with emu and kangaroo, and made from the materials of the colony itself. Where the shaft of tulipwood joined the iron blade, the figure of a sheep was engraved. With exceeding gracefulness she dug into the damp earth and lifted from it, on to a nearby wheelbarrow, highly ornamented and of polished cedar, the first small piece of turf cut in Australia for the construction of its first steam-operated public railway.4 His Excellency, left hand on the hilt of his sword, bowed and doffed his cocked hat; the English ensign was hoisted. There was much cheering and an immediate rush for the refreshment tent on the north side of the paddock where seven tables, most inconveniently crowded, were groaning under good fare and excellent wines. The Governor toasted the success of the railway and the band, above the loud and protracted cheering, played the celebrated Railway Gallop.5 The many speeches promised that his daughter’s exertions would initiate the transformation of a continent, so wholly destitute of navigable rivers to its isolated inland.6




    In the eyes of many it was a continent also without roads. ‘It is ridiculous to denominate as a road a winding track along an alternate succession of mounds and ditches and across the beds of rivers, perpetually obstructed by stumps of trees and other vegetation, destitute of either drainage or macadamisation, impassable for weeks in the wet season’, wrote one citizen commenting on the route from Sydney to Goulburn. No one, he said, who had been for many days together almost shaken to pieces, occasionally thrown out of his vehicle, had his carriage embedded for weeks in the slough, hemmed in by devastating floods and reduced to the brink of starvation, would attempt to impede railway construction.7




    His Excellency had suffered grievously from the colony’s poor roads in December 1847 when his first wife, eldest daughter of the Duke of Richmond, had been thrown from a carriage at Parramatta and killed. He had been imprudently acting as charioteer at the time and was himself crippled for some months.8 It was fortunate for those who had pressed for the start of a railroad that the Governor was with them for, in 1850 (though New South Wales had for eight years had a partly elected legislature), the authority and influence of the governor were great. FitzRoy, affable and indolent, was used to authority and privilege. The eldest son of General Lord Charles FitzRoy (second son of the Duke of Grafton), he was commissioned in the Horse Guards at sixteen and was a staff officer at Waterloo, a member of the House of Commons for one term, and governor successively of Prince Edward Island and the Leeward Islands until his appointment as Governor-in-Chief of New South Wales in 1846. In private he was self-indulgent and his behaviour, following his wife’s death, was widely considered scandalous. His sons were as bad. The worthy but by no means tolerant John Dunmore Lang told the Legislative Council that the moral influence from Government House had been deleterious and baneful and that FitzRoy’s administration had been a uniform conspiracy against the rights of the people.9 ‘A dandy of sixty who bowed with the grace more of a sportsman than a politician’, FitzRoy had small knowledge of books, no talents as a speaker and, it was believed, ‘many of his despatches, public and private, were composed by a clever junior clerk in the office of the Colonial Secretary’. He was as criticized for his administrative apathy as his predecessors had been for their despotism.10 The Governor, however, represented the might of a Britain that had not only conquered at Waterloo but had, with Nelson’s victory at Trafalgar, won a control of the seas that meant, for Britain’s navy, rule of the entire Indian Ocean and a generally accepted supremacy throughout the islands of the South Seas.




    One of the main speakers at the Cleveland Paddock, and one who supported Dunmore Lang’s views about the Governor, had been present, almost five years before, at a public meeting in the colony on 29 January 1846 to consider the construction of railways (a meeting chaired by John Macarthur’s son, James).11 Charles Cowper, a Yorkshireman, came as a child of two to Sydney in 1809 with his parents, one year after the officers of the New South Wales Corps had imprisoned Governor Bligh for attempting to curb the many privileges they had given themselves in the years from 1792, after Governor Phillip’s departure. His father was colonial chaplain under Samuel Marsden. The degradation of the colony under the military clique ended with the disbandment of the Corps in 1809 and Governor Lachlan Macquarie’s arrival; but as its individual members, after resigning their commissions, were permitted to retire to their substantial estates their influence continued down the decades.




    From the time of that first public meeting in 1846 Cowper was by far the most energetic and prominent single individual in the drive to introduce railways to the colony. He was, though, no entrepreneur. In his youth he had been a clerk in the Commissariat Department and Secretary to the Church and School Lands Corporation before starting pastoral pursuits in 1833 and building up large properties. He was elected to the Legislative Council in 1843 and later forcefully opposed the scheme for the revival of the transportation of convicts. He was no adventurer, like the young William Charles Wentworth, nor was he, like the Governor, a man of arms. In 1847 Cowper was challenged to a duel by the tall swashbuckling yachtsman, whaling entrepreneur and merchant, Benjamin Boyd, but publicly declined to meet him (an attitude praised in a leading article of the Sydney Morning Herald).12 Cowper, whose brother was the Dean of Sydney, became a member of Wentworth’s committee in 1853 for formulating the colony’s new constitution, defeated Henry Parkes in the poll for the seat of Sydney and, in 1856, became Leader of the Opposition. Within a year he was Premier and Colonial Secretary. Parkes described him as a man of quick insight, much good humour and tact in dealing with individuals and a political adroitness that earned him the sobriquet of Slippery Charlie.13 Many supposed him to be a cunning, deceitful man, a contemporary wrote, whose prime object was to throw dust in the eyes of all parties, but he clung to his opinions with immovable tenacity.




    

      He has a good figure and gentlemanly appearance; he is quick and active in all his movements, both mentally and physically; his face is intelligent and intellectual, open, expressive, and very thoughtful; his mouth indicates, with unerring precision, the great decision of character he possesses; his manner is most affable and agreeable, perfectly natural and unaffected.


    




    He was as sharp as lightning, sound and practical in judgement, never prolix and displayed ‘wonderful tact and discrimination in eliminating as much as possible all the elements of opposition’.14 In a brilliant parliamentary career he was responsible for many important measures including manhood suffrage and the abolition of state aid to religion. He was to lead several administrations and be knighted in 1871.15 In April 1848, however, he chaired the Legislative Council’s select committee on railways and was to advocate vigorously their formation.




    The evidence given before that committee showed that from 7 August 1846, when a second meeting of private citizens was held, the financial involvement of the government in the introduction of railways was needed and expected. The meeting elected a provisional committee to collect subscriptions for the cost of a survey. William Dawes, honorary secretary of that committee, told Charles Cowper, its chairman, that £352 had been collected. ‘I hope to collect £500 so as to be in a position to claim a like sum from the Government.’16 The private enterprise that stimulated the introduction of railways in New South Wales also, from the outset, looked for public monies to sustain it.




    The provisional committee was able to report on 26 August 1846 that from the data they had on the products, population and traffic between Sydney and Goulburn and the existence of no insurmountable engineering difficulties, the cost of constructing a railway line would not exceed £6000 a mile and that a net profit of 8 per cent on the required capital could be expected. No decisive steps could be taken until the line of country was surveyed. Lieutenant Thomas Woore R.N., who had settled in the colony in 1836, agreed to carry out a survey, volunteering, he wrote, ‘to give my services gratuitously for the present but reserving a claim on the plans for my future remuneration’.17 The irascible Surveyor-General, Thomas Mitchell, was not impressed with Woore’s competence, James Macarthur’s chairmanship of the public meeting, or the prospect of success for a railroad. He wrote to his son:




    

      I cannot hope much from a railroad speculation in a country where the population is far below a million . . . It is all flash-in-the-pan work in this land of humbug . . . The idea of Macarthur in the chair on a question of railroads! The Devil in the chair at a Bible Society meeting would not be more out of place.18


    




    Earlier in 1846, on 15 January, the British Secretary of State for the Colonies, W. E. Gladstone, had sent a despatch on the ship Agincourt to FitzRoy’s predecessor, Sir George Gipps. (Britain’s Railway Act of 1844, making it compulsory for all lines to carry passengers in covered coaches at least once daily for not more than a penny a mile, had been prepared under his direction). ‘I find’, Gladstone wrote,




    

      that the impulse which has been given in every other part of the civilised world to plans of railway communication has been felt in many parts of the British Colonies . . . The experience of this country has ascertained some general principles on the subject, the application of which is neither transitory nor local, but which it may now be presumed, are applicable in various degrees to the legislation of every country in this new field of enquiry.


    




    Gladstone’s advice was practical. The legislature should expressly stipulate in the formation of any railway company that it was free to repeal or alter any grants without compensation to shareholders; at least one-tenth of any capital proposed should have been actually invested in good and available securities; every railway Bill should contain provisions for the conveyance of the royal mails and Her Majesty’s Forces; electric telegraphs established on any line should be properly controlled. There was advice on the scale of tolls and interestingly, in the light of the future experience of the colony, ‘provision for the purchase, if it shall be thought fit, by the State after a certain lapse of time . . . of any railway’. The railway system, wrote Gladstone, ‘is still in a great degree an infant system, and . . . it is impossible accurately to predict the accompaniments and effects of its maturity, or to measure the exigencies which it may create’.19




    On 19 May Gipps replied:




    

      I was waited on yesterday by a number of highly respectable gentlemen who sought to ascertain from me the extent to which the introduction of railways in the Colony would be patronised or aided by Her Majesty’s Government, especially in respect to the grant or purchase of land belonging to the Crown, over which it may be necessary to conduct a railway.


    




    They wanted, he said, a strip of land from one to two hundred yards wide along the railway and ‘about a square mile (640 acres) at each station on the line’. The respectable gentlemen (led by Charles Cowper) also proposed that the railway company, where the line passed through a fertile district, ‘be put in possession, either by grant or purchase, of considerable quantities of land, with the view of selling the same at some future period at an advanced price, and thereby defraying some portion of the expense of the work’.




    Gipps told his callers that, under the existing Land Sales Act, no land could be acquired except at auction but in his letter to Gladstone he said that




    

      considering how much the introduction of railways will not only contribute to the general improvement of the Colony, but also increase the value of Crown Lands through which they pass, I venture to recommend that any railway company, which may be sanctioned by an act of the Local Legislature, may be exempted from the competition of the auction room in the purchase of Crown Lands, and allowed to take such lands as are necessary for the formation of the railways, either at the fixed price of £1 per acre, or such higher price as may be agreed on.


    




    He would, he said, confine this privilege to the land needed for the railway plus one square mile at each station. Two railways are at present projected in the Colony, one from Sydney to Goulburn . . . a distance of about 130 miles, and the other from Sydney to Windsor . . . a distance of only about forty miles.’ The success of these undertakings would, he concluded, ‘depend mainly on the extent to which it may be possible to dispose of shares in England’. No railway Act, wrote Gipps, should be passed without requiring the company to bring to the colony labourers in numbers proportional to the magnitude of the undertaking.20




    Britain itself had had only sixteen years of experience in the operation of railways as public carriers of passengers and freight. On 15 September 1830 the railway era began for the world with the opening of the Liverpool and Manchester Railway after a contest between three engineers to prove the superiority of their locomotives. It was won, following eight days of trials at Rainhill in Lancashire from 6 October 1829, by George Stephenson’s Rocket in which the steam was generated by fire passing through multiple tubes in the boiler. Seven years earlier, Stephenson had been invited to equip a railroad between Stockton and Darlington, a line that opened on 27 September 1825. Though this was the first public railroad in the world to use locomotive traction and the first built to carry both freight and passengers it was not a successful public carrier because the line was worked by horse and cable haulage as well as by steam locomotive.




    Stephenson had completed the building of his first locomotive, the Blucher, in 1814. (Ten years earlier, the world’s first simple adhesion locomotive (relying on friction between wheels and rails for forward motion) had been built by Richard Trevithick.) The Blucher was precededed in 1813 by William Hedley’s Puffing Billy, used for hauling coal wagons between a mine and wharves. In that same year, on the other side of the world, Blaxland, Lawson and Wentworth fought their way along the plateau ridges of the Blue Mountains and found, for the first time, a route to the inland valleys of New South Wales and the rich western plains beyond. The route they pioneered through the mountain barrier to the west of the new colony was the route to its first riches-wool; the new technology of the steam railroad was to provide the means of exploiting this wealth. The social revolution of the early railroad, that shrank distance and replaced the animal power of the bullock wagon with an energy source never before available to mankind, emerged contemporaneously with European settlement of the vast Australian continent. Both were to develop together, throughout the nineteenth century and beyond, along parallel lines.




    The path followed in that crossing of the Blue Mountains in 1813 was, despite later prolonged and expensive surveys seeking better routes, to have a double significance for the colony, for it was to prove the most practicable for the penetration of the railway when it finally broke through the mountain barrier to Sydney’s west. There were great advances in that decade in Sydney itself under the autocratic government of the vain and visionary Governor Macquarie. He harnessed the good will of the growing number of former convicts whose sentences had been served or who had earned pardons and saw the influence of these emancipists strengthen and check that of the privileged few under the leadership of the Macarthurs. Roads and buildings, carefully planned, were his passion but he also introduced the first currency into the colony, brought the first bank into being and initiated a postal system. A year after his arrival the twenty-year-old William Charles Wentworth rode his father’s horse to victory at the first official horse races in the colony on 15 October 1810. Hyde Park became a place for the fashionable to promenade as the afternoon sun sank. In the ten years from 1810 over sixteen thousand male convicts arrived from England to provide a pool of cheap labour for Macquarie’s ambitious building programme. When his assistant surveyor, G. W. Evans, found in 1814 vast areas of grazing land, soil exceeding rich and country like a park to the west of the mountains that had so recently been conquered, Macquarie proposed to Earl Bathurst (now Secretary of State for the Colonies) that a road through to these grassy plains should be built. ‘The expence of constructing it will be very trifling to Government, the men employed in it being convicts who volunteered their services on condition of receiving emancipation for their extra labour. This is the only remuneration they receive except their rations.’21 Bathurst was nevertheless horrified at the cost of this and other works pushed through by the ambitious Macquarie and outraged by the Governor’s liberal attitude to emancipists and convicts. ‘The great end of punishment is the prevention of crime’, he wrote. ‘If, by ill-considered compassion for convicts, or from what might under other circumstances be considered a laudable desire to lessen their sufferings, their situation in New South Wales be divested of all salutary terror, transportation cannot operate as an effectual example on the community at large . . .’ The distant Government of His Majesty in London still viewed New South Wales not as a colony that should grow in wealth and civic virtue but as a convenient prison. ‘The settlements in New Holland must clearly be considered as receptacles for offenders . . . ‘, wrote Bathurst. ‘Their growth as colonies must be a secondary consideration.’22




    Despite this London perspective, the life of the colony was enriched and varied during Macquarie’s paternalistic years as governor. It was to explode in vitality and wealth from its natural resources, rather than on the civic foundations he had built, in the decades that followed his departure in 1821. At the end of that year there were over nineteen thousand adult convicts in a total population of nearly thirty thousand. Some three thousand of the adult convicts were women and they had over seven thousand children. There were only some fifteen hundred adult free settlers with a little less than two thousand children.23 But free immigrants were to arrive in ever-increasing numbers to change the balance of the population; wool was to reshape the economy and tempt men with only meagre capital to seek fortune in the empty inland; gradually the mounting wealth from these endless but isolated pastures was to make evident the need for a means better than bullock wagons of carrying the colony’s new wealth to the city and the ships from England.




    By the mid-1820s John Macarthur’s long efforts to initiate an industry based on the breeding of merino sheep for fine wool were well recognized. A House of Lords committee in 1826 heard that the colony’s wool was ‘more sought after than any other description’; a London merchant described the cloth made from it as beyond equal ‘for fineness of texture and softness of quality. Equal to the wool of any country and of any time, it has the strength of wool with the softness of silk’.24 British demand fuelled wild colonial speculation. John Dunmore Lang wrote:




    The mania impelled whomsoever it seized to the cattle market . . . Barristers, attorneys, military officers of every rank, civilians of every department, medical men, merchants, dealers, settlers were there seen . . . out bidding each other in the most determined manner for the purchase of every scabbed sheep, scarecrow horse or buffalo cow in the colony. It was made as clear as daylight to the comprehension of stupidity itself that the owners of a certain number of sheep and cattle in New South Wales must in a certain number of years infallibly make a fortune.25




    Macquarie’s successor, Governor Darling, his resources stretched, tried vainly to limit the unauthorized occupation of inland pastures. In 1829 he drew a line half circling Sydney between the mountains and the coast, forbidding settlement beyond it. But the free settlers filling the ships that arrived had come with a vision of a free country where there was land for the taking. A man could simply set out with his flock of sheep, his wagon, his rations and his hopes until he found a run that was unclaimed. The squatters soon outnumbered the authorized few with their grazing licences; the Governor was powerless. Though the boom of 1826 was ended by a three-year drought and, in Dunmore Lang’s words, ‘the ruin thus experienced in all directions was just a little less extensive than the mania which had originally caused it’, memories were short. A second speculative boom in 1838, sustained by credit from the proliferating number of new banks and the London merchants who flooded the colony with luxury goods, ended in a mass of bankruptcies. It was far, far worse for the Aborigines. ‘There was and there can be’, wrote historian Edward Shann, ‘no consistency between a hunting and a pastoral use of land and beasts’. There was no provision for them or




    

      for the high purpose of knowing the taciturn mind of an archaic race . . . [Their] morale and their elaborate code of honour crumbled as the squatters and their servants drove multitudes of strange beasts across the tribal boundaries, shot down warriors and the native game . . . ensnared the gins and the children into dishonour and drudgery by gifts of rum, tobacco and flour.26


    




    Between the two booms the population of the colony had grown to almost seventy thousand. When it was disastrously demonstrated that there were not fortunes for all of them from the land, many sought productive work in or near Sydney. Their labour was needed, both in Sydney and by those who had succeeded on the land. Though wool was the prime product, by 1845 almost 90 000 acres were under wheat, producing almost a million and a quarter bushels a year.27 The transportation of convicts, who provided such welcome cheap labour for the pastoralists, had ceased in New South Wales in 1840 (and ceased completely in eastern Australia in 1853). By 1848, when the total population had reached 220 000, there were no convicts left in private employment on mainland Australia. The availability and cost of labour was to influence dramatically the long endeavours of the new railway pioneers.




    On 27 January 1848 the committee that had engaged Lieutenant Woore to survey the country between Sydney and Goulburn presented his report and drawings to a public meeting. It resolved that ‘private enterprise ought to be extensively assisted out of the public revenue’.28 Cowper, on the following day, sent the report to FitzRoy with an ardent letter. In a young colony, he wrote, the introduction of railways would ‘tend materially to unfold its resources and to improve, at an extraordinary degree, the intellectual, moral and social conditions of its inhabitants’. How much more desirable




    

      must railways appear to be in this particular Colony, scantily supplied with inland water communication; where the common roads of the Colony are daily deteriorating so as to add considerably to the expense of transit to an only market, Sydney, whither everything for home use as well as for exportation has to be brought . . . as the only one where produce can be converted into cash to any extent, with a climate and soil superior to many, and perhaps inferior to none on the whole face of the habitable globe.


    




    But, said Cowper, it was rendered useless to man principally from the want of internal communication. The natural result of railway undertakings, he wrote, was the rapidity with which localities became peopled in their vicinity, with a consequent development of resources and prosperity. ‘No comparison can be made between the present insufficient roads and the proposed railway lines.’




    Cowper then urged on FitzRoy the need for the construction of these railways by the Government.




    

      This Colony, I maintain, . . . is in too infant a state and altogether too deficient in point of labour, even were its capitalists disposed for the undertaking, to carry out such gigantic works; and again there seems to be an almost total want of confidence in Joint Stock Companies generally. It is not here, as in England, where a superabundance of capital, a corresponding degree of confidence and unlimited supply of cheap labour exist. There, works of this nature are perhaps best left to the enterprise of individuals; and I am one amongst the first to admit, under such circumstances, that it would be ungracious as well as impolitic for the Government to interfere beyond the ordinary requisites of legislation for the public good; but the thing becomes widely different in a Colony where these essentials do not obtain; . . . it becomes politic as well as just and humane for a Government to stretch forth its parental hand for the support and welfare of its people by performing those acts of public utility which, individually, the colonists are incompetent to undertake.


    




    Railways in New South Wales, argued the man most responsible for their beginnings, were a matter for the state. The question of private enterprise being quite chimerical here, it only remains for me to show how the Government may be enabled to carry out this scheme.’




    The two necessary ingredients were labour and capital. For the first, criminal labour under military guard might be used, wrote Cowper, ‘a just return for the violation of [the colony’s] laws and an example sufficiently severe to deter others from crime’. But, as there would in all probability be insufficient for the purposes required, a recourse to immigration would be necessary. Cowper thought the colony should pay for the cost of all immigration necessary to provide labour for railway construction. This labour would have to be separated from the criminal element. ‘Common sense will point out the necessity of keeping the two classes at separate ends of the line.’




    For the second ingredient necessary, Cowper was almost dismissive. ‘As regards mere capital, there is an abundance of that here, whether English or Colonial, or an admixture of both . . . ‘He did not, however, regard it as classical venture capital, in search of profit but willing to entertain risk. It was cautious capital, to be tempted only by unquestioned security. ‘Any amount that might be wanted by the Government for railways’, he said,




    

      could easily be obtained if secured by debentures upon both or either of the General or Territorial Revenues at five per cent, which would both minister to the wants of the Government and afford the capitalists of the Colony that which they have long been sighing for, namely a convertible security for their redundant capital.


    




    He had other arguments, political and financial, to sway the Government. Without a railway , he wrote, ‘the squatters will hold their lands in perpetuity . . . until the time will arrive, and that too at no very distant period, when they will become so powerful a body as to set all Government and good rule at defiance and thereby assert their absolute ownership’. Only a railway could preserve the existing minimum price of land.




    

      I should ill perform that duty, which every citizen owes to the land of his adoption, did I not boldly and fearlessly . . . join those few patriotic individuals of our Legislative Council who have raised their voices against the wholesale spoliation of our waste lands for the aggrandisement of a section [the squatters] of our community.


    




    He concluded with some passion:




    

      Surely a scheme like this, so clear and vivid in its nature and so facile in operation, requiring only the credit of the Government for its consum mation, is worthy of the enlightened age in which we live and sufficient, it is hoped, to justify a deviation even from old and established customs.


    




    The interests of the Government, the colonists and posterity would be well cared for.29




    A select committee of the Legislative Council under Cowper’s chairmanship was appointed on 28 March 1848 ‘to take into consideration the practicability and expediency of introducing railways in this Colony’, but even Cowper acknowledged problems. ‘There seems to be rather a distrust in the success of such an enterprise, and no doubt many difficulties stand in the way of it.’ These, he said, ‘are the infancy of the Colony, its scanty population, the variety of opinions on the subject and, more than all, the dearth of labour for even ordinary pursuits’.30




    The early evidence taken by the select committee, on 3 April, came from the endeavours of those who had met on 29 January l846. ‘The first matter’, they reported, ‘. . . was to decide upon a line of road [railway] having the greatest traffic, free from competition of water communication and opening the most fertile and populous district. With these objects in view, Goulburn appeared to us to present the most eligible terminus’. No particular obstacles existed, they said, but a sufficiency of labourers should be imported expressly for the purpose. ‘The country around Sydney for a circle of many miles, being for the most part barren and useless, some safe and speedy mode of transit to the more fertile districts of the interior is absolutely necessary for developing the resources and securing the advancement of the Colony.’




    Thomas Woore, the surveyor, told Cowper’s committee that the greatest difficulty would be the ascent of over two thousand feet in just thirty-two miles. ‘No such ascent has ever been attained that I am aware of.’ Ironbark timber would, he said, best answer for rails and almost any of the other timber would serve for the substructure. ‘At present our rich lands in the interior are lying waste’, said Woore.




    

      Our small farmers can scarcely exist from the want of a market to dispose of their produce, there being so large a quantity raised in the immediate neighbourhood . . . while Sydney is drawing from Van Diemen’s Land and other places beyond the sea its supplies of wheat, potatoes and other produce that ought to come from our own lands. The larger establishments suffer a yet greater inconvenience from the difficulty of obtaining conveyance of any kind in dry seasons and from the serious loss they sustain from the exposure of their wool and stores, and from other casualties, during the protracted journeys to and from Sydney in wet seasons. Whilst to all classes the exclusion from the metropolis, and almost total prohibition of all social intercourse arising from the difficulties and expense of travelling are highly detrimental in a religious, social and political point of view. The line now proposed will provide a remedy for these evils.31


    




    (The Surveyor-General, Mitchell, with damaging effect to the company in government circles, made it known publicly that he opposed Woore’s ‘rummaging’ survey.)32




    The committee was able to call on an experienced railwayman to advise it. The head of the survey department of the Sydney Corporation, Francis Sheilds, was, he told them, ‘bred to the profession of railway engineer’. He recommended that main lines in the interior should be constructed on the less expensive American principle.




    

      I should certainly not recommend the adoption of English principles in the construction of any railways in a finished and costly style; but on the line adjacent to Sydney, over which a heavy traffic from every part of the interior would pass, I think that a greater degree of strength should be given to the works . . .


    




    Sheilds did not agree with Woore’s view that ironbark timber would serve for rails.




    

      The railway companies of England have found it necessary to increase, time after time, weight and strength of their iron rails and from the great wear and heavy strain caused by the locomotive engines and trains I can scarcely conceive that a wooden rail could withstand the effects of heavy traffic.


    




    The calculation of the working costs and the revenues of a line to Parramatta, fourteen miles in length, he treated as a simple matter. To run four passenger and two goods trains daily in each direction would cost £192 10s each week; with an estimated thirty passengers in each passenger train plus gross earnings of some £4 from each goods train, total receipts each week would be £351. There would therefore be a clear profit each week of £158 10s. Sheilds saw no difficulties in obtaining the necessary rough carpenters, superior mechanics to superintend them and masons that would be needed. In the Sydney Corporation, he said, ‘we can select as many excellent labourers at three shillings per day as we desire. This is accounted for by the fact that nearly all these men have large families, which renders them unsuitable for country employment’.33




    Another member of the original 1846 provisional committee, who had been resident in the colony for twenty-seven years, the Reverend Ralph Mansfield, was Secretary of the Sydney Gas Company. (Mansfield was a frequent contributor to the Sydney Herald and had numerous other business interests. Gavin Souter, in Company of Heralds, a history of the Sydney Morning Herald, quotes an uncharitable poem of 1845 describing Mansfield as ‘A punchy, short, oily-faced, sanctified man’.) Mansfield was sure that the traffic already available on a southern line to Goulburn ‘would secure to the capital invested . . . a very fair return immediately and a very splendid return eventually’. Mansfield could speak with authority on the capitalization and performance of the gas company which, he believed, would be easily outdone by a railway company. ‘The lighting of Sydney with gas was considered quite a chimerical idea . . . It was scouted as a mere flight of imagination. The Company commenced in the middle of 1836 . . . we did not commence lighting until 24 May 1841.’ For the first two years little was done until one thousand shares were offered for sale in London.




    

      These 1,000 shares had no sooner been announced by our London agents as being for sale than they were purchased with avidity . . . and even in the Colony, when it became known about the middle of 1839 that the engineer and a large shipment of machinery had arrived from England, such was the reaction of people’s minds that there was quite a rush for shares; and in a few days the applications far exceeded the number of shares remaining for allotment.


    




    The object of the company, he said,




    

      has always been to keep down profits and not to swell them. Having a virtual monopoly we have feared to make the profits too great, and our dividends have therefore not exceeded those of the banks and sometimes have not come up to them. With railroads . . . I feel no doubt that the profits would ere long be some 15 or 20 per cent.


    




    Mansfield supported his vision of profitability for railroads with figures on population growth.




    

      The population of France is computed to double itself in about eighty-eight years; that of the United Kingdom in about forty-eight years; that of the United States of America in about thirty years; that of Canada in about twenty years; whilst that of New South Wales has, on the average of the last twenty-five years, doubled itself every eight and a half years.


    




    He commented on the fecundity of the colony’s married women and the low rates of child mortality. Railway traffic would, he said, benefit not only from the carriage of produce and people who travelled from necessity but also from leisure travel.




    

      There is a growing desire on the part of the population of Sydney and its suburbs for recreation and holiday jaunts. They go in cabs, hired for a day, or a couple of days or more, from Sydney to Camden etc. Camden seems to be becoming to the people of Sydney something like Richmond to the Londoners.


    




    On the likelihood of capital investment in railways he was firm in his optimism.




    

      I have experienced myself, as executor, having had in my hands very large sums of money, thousands of pounds, which I did not know what to do with and they have lain for years in the banks without yielding one farthing interest . . . I do not see any means by which industrious people when they have saved a few scores or hundreds of pounds can put it out to interest. The railway undertaking would afford such means of investment . . .34


    




    The traffic in goods from Goulburn, dragged so uncertainly and laboriously behind bullocks, all came from the land and included wool, tallow, hides, grain, hay, dairy produce, sheep, cattle and horses. Its growth as much as the explosive growth of the colony’s population were urged as justifying a railway. Sydney itself, the select committee was told, had grown by almost 40 per cent in the past five years to almost 50 000; in the Liverpool to Camden area there had been a rise of 30 per cent to over 8000; Goulburn had almost matched Sydney in its rate of growth and its population had climbed by 36 per cent to over 5000. Bathurst had almost doubled in population to 6647 but Parramatta Owing to the breaking up of the Female Factory and other Convict Establishments and consequent withdrawal of troops’, had decreased by some 600 to 9400.35




    On 6 June Charles Cowper submitted the committee’s report. In Europe and other civilized parts of the world, he said, the introduction of railways had been attended by a rapid and almost incredible development and increase of all the sources and appliances of national industry. Railways had superseded almost every other mode of transit overland for goods and passengers. True, it did seem that one of the usual, if not necessary, conditions of their application was a certain amount of population and internal traffic but, he argued, railways tended to create the very means of their support. With an eye on his opponents, Cowper did not altogether dismiss ‘the indispensable application of the law of necessary relation between the population, the traffic and the cost of a railway to justify its adoption’. He was also careful to defer to His Excellency for the help given in sanctioning a sum not exceeding £500 from the Land Fund towards the cost of Woore’s survey. ‘In consequence of this combined effort on the part of the public and the Executive Government, a careful and elaborate examination of [the] lines of country has been made.’




    The report set out its findings on the physical aspects of the country, the costs of construction, the labour needed, the probable revenue from a railway and the means by which capital might be raised. Though some of the more hard-headed businessmen, such as the Sydney auctioneer Thomas Sutcliffe Mort, had criticized the low level of government support the majority, who viewed the railway project more as an essential improvement to the colony’s communications than as a business venture, found it adequate. ‘The Committee are of opinion’, Cowper wrote, ‘that the period has already arrived when to abstain from taking effective steps for realising to ourselves the transcendent advantages that belong to this great means of social and national advancement would be to manifest a supineness and reprehensible indifference to the welfare of the Colony’.




    Cowper thought the decision of the Imperial Government that the company be permitted ‘to purchase land, literally valueless, at the minimum upset price of £1 per acre’ could hardly be regarded as a boon. The Canadian precedent should be followed and a free grant of the necessary land made. Indigenous timber would be found ‘unequalled, whether employed as sleepers for the rails or used as piles in substitution for embankments according to the plan already extensively followed in America’. Railways constructed on this principle had, he said, been long in use in America and the cost had not exceeded £2000 a mile. That level of cost would apply in the colony, the committee believed, for lines southward from Sydney to the Cowpasture River and to the west or north-west, to the Nepean or Hawkesbury Rivers, ‘provided the plan adopted be that of wooden rails only’. If, however, Sheilds’ suggestion of iron rails in the vicinity of Sydney were adopted, the committee believed the cost would not exceed double that amount. (They were to be wildly wrong.)




    Cowper tackled the strongly urged argument of those opposing railway construction that it would ‘absorb so much of the available labour of the Colony as materially to injure the settlers in the country’. Under the favourable prospects existing for the continuance of immigration this argument was not, he said, any longer worth consideration.




    

      Even if only three hundred men could be employed upon this undertaking, very satisfactory progress would be made; but should any Company which may be established feel authorised to employ five hundred men, your Committee believe that even this number would not now derange the labour market of the interior.


    




    On the central problem of finance, Cowper wrote:




    

      The Committee are of the opinion, after mature deliberation, that the project of a Railway ought, if necessary, with a view of ensuring its success, to be encouraged by the Government providing, either directly or indirectly, a portion of the capital, and offering to guarantee a fixed rate of interest on the shares for a limited term of years.


    




    Nevertheless, he wrote, they believed that not only would a railway be remunerative in the vicinity of Sydney but it would very probably make a moderate return on lines extended to the interior. There was, said Cowper, more than enough unemployed capital in the colony for the undertaking. On 31st December 1847, the amount of deposits in the several Colonial Banks was £1,200,000.’ However, he again stressed, the experiment ‘if left entirely unaided in the hands of a Public Company might fail’. The committee believed ‘that very great inducement would be afforded to capitalists to enter into the formation of a Company if a dividend at a rate not exceeding six per cent per annum were guaranteed . . . limited to the first £100,000 paid up . . . for ten years’. Cowper concluded with a swipe at those who wanted roads. ‘To put these roads in a condition equal to the requirements of the country by levelling, macadamising, and the erection of bridges would, there can be little doubt, entail upon the Colony a cost equal what would be incurred in the construction of a railway.’ Lastly, he wrote,




    

      a great and increasing stimulus would be given to all the springs of private industry and enterprize . . . New articles of export would be produced, occasioning an increase to our revenue and trade; new fields of occupation would be opened to the emigrant; lands at present lying waste, from their inaccessibility, would find purchasers.36


    




    Cowper’s report was persuasive. On 15 June the Legislative Council passed a series of resolutions affirming the expediency and practicality of the formation of railways in the colony and backing the proposal that the Government offer inducements to encourage private enterprise, such as grants of land along the lines, a guarantee of 6 per cent per annum on the first £100 000 of the capital subscribed, and the investment of £30 000 from the Savings Bank in any company that might be formed.37




    FitzRoy was also supportive. He wrote to Earl Grey in London:




    

      As I know of no country where the total absence of water communication with the interior, the great difficulty of forming and keeping in repair the ordinary roads and the consequent expense and delay which are entailed upon the inhabitants of the more remote districts in conveying their various articles of produce to market or for exportation would render the formation of railways more advantageous to its general interests; and as, moreover, I am convinced that a long period must elapse before railways can be introduced into this Colony unless material aid is afforded by the Government, I feel justified in recommending the resolutions now transmitted to your Lordship’s favourable consideration, with a view to such inducement being held out to any company that may be formed for this purpose as may appear to your Lordship to be practicable and consistent with general principles.38


    




    (Earl Grey became Secretary for War and the Colonies in 1846 and held this position for six years. He introduced the view that the colonies should be governed not merely for the greater good of England but also for their own advancement; he also favoured and helped advance the implementation of self-government.)




    On 11 September 1848 these activities reached their climax when a meeting was held at the office of the Gas Company in Sydney and a provisional committee appointed to establish the Australian, Southern and Western Railway Company. The name was misleading. The intention of the company was initially to build only a short line of railway and with it demonstrate the advantages of rail. There would then, it was believed, be enough local capital encouraged to enable the construction of major lines. (They were to be wrong again.) In November a prospectus was published using a more appropriate name—the Sydney Tramroad and Railway Company. The immediate goal was to lay the first line westward from the city of Sydney or its immediate vicinity to a point from which further lines to the south, the west and the north-west might diverge. The ultimate aim was to lay down a railway line to Goulburn and, if found practicable, to Bathurst.39 Their first need was a professional officer and, on 9 January 1849 the city surveyor, F. W. Sheilds, was appointed to the position of engineer. Sheilds, as he had told the select committee, had worked on railway construction in England before coming to the colony and he at once set about his survey of the line from Sydney to Parramatta and Liverpool as well as inspecting the country beyond Liverpool to Goulburn.




    Events had hardly moved at breakneck speed since the first public meeting by those interested in railways for the colony three years before. The process of decision making, involving the colonial legislature, the Governor and Her Majesty’s Government in London, was to remain cumbersome. Further delays were dramatically to affect the company’s activities. The select committee of the Legislative Council had to be reappointed in July 1849 to consider a despatch from Earl Grey dated 8 February. His lordship had, in ways that concerned the supporters of railways, changed his mind on important matters.




    Grey had from the start given consistent encouragement to them. In February 1847, in a despatch to Sir George Gipps, he had acknowledged ‘the very great advantage which would result from the construction of railroads in the Australian Colonies’ and that it might be ‘greatly in the public interest to encourage the promotion of such undertakings’. Six months later, Grey directed ‘the attention of His Excellency the Governor to the great importance of establishing such means of communication at the earliest possible period’. One significant despatch, on 30 June 1848, expressly recommended ‘that one uniform gauge for railways should be adopted for Australia’. It suggested 4 feet 8V2 inches as the most desirable. In July 1848 Grey said that he could not




    

      too strongly express his conviction of the benefit that would accrue from any well matured and supported plan for the construction of railways and that should the [Colonial] Legislature pass any law for the encouragement of such undertakings, he would venture to state that the [British] Government would most readily recommend to Parliament any modification of the Land Sales Act which might be necessary for effecting this particular object.


    




    With that despatch had been enclosed the opinion of Britain’s Commissioners of Railways that it ‘would be expedient in order to attract capital to the speculation that a Government guarantee of 6 per cent should be given’, though on terms ‘not to render it a matter of indifference to the Company whether they worked the lines efficiently or not’.40




    As this steady encouragement came from London, so had FitzRoy firmed his support. He had offered to make reservations of land, pending approval from Her Majesty’s Government, and had ‘expressed a willingness, provided the consent of the Legislature was obtained, to guarantee the payment of interest at 5 per cent per annum for twenty-five years upon the first £100,000 of capital subscribed . . . His Excellency further expressed his willingness to assent to an act of incorporation limiting the liability of each shareholder to the amount of his subscribed shares.41




    Earl Grey, however, now no longer favoured this guarantee of interest. The select committee regretted, it said,




    

      to observe His Lordship’s scruples against such a mode of encouragement on the ground that ‘its obvious tendency would be to diminish the motives of the Company to carry on their operations with economy’. They confess they have read this expression of His Lordship’s opinion with some degree of surprise.


    




    It had, they said, been repeatedly sanctioned in reference to other British colonies such as New Brunswick, British Guiana and, they believed, Trinidad and Ceylon. ‘The East India Company have, in a wise spirit of liberality, offered a similar incentive to induce the investment of capital in railways in the Indian Territories.’




    His Lordship now recommended the establishment of a fund from the sale of lands, rather than the granting of land to railway companies. He also proposed that, additionally, the colonial legislature should borrow the money required for the construction of the line and, after its completion, should lease the working of it to a company by public competition. ‘Such a plan’, said the select committee, ‘necessarily involves the carrying out of the undertaking under the immediate control of the Government . . . The Government have no proper machinery for the adequate discharge of such a task’. It could not be as satisfactorily performed under the supervision and control of the Executive Government as ‘under the more vigilant superintendence of persons pecuniarily interested in the success of the enterprise’. In this enthusiasm for the efficiency of a private corporation they commented with unconscious irony on the motivation of their fellow private-enterprise practitioners.




    

      The experience of all who have any knowledge upon the subject justifies the assertion that in transactions with Government, contractors and other persons seem to consider it not only fair but almost a part of their business to obtain as much as possible from the public funds, and that this is peculiarly the case in this Colony.


    




    The committee urged its incontestable belief ‘that there can be no reasonable doubt that a rate of profit would accrue from the enterprise which would exempt the Crown from all liability arising from its guarantee’. They also offered a deal; a guarantee of 4 per cent—’the least possible concession’—would be acceptable.42




    Though the select committee concerned itself mainly with the questions of government support and involvement, technical evidence was given by Francis Sheilds. He proposed to bring the railroad to the junction of the Haymarket and South Elizabeth Street where he planned to place the station. He acknowledged that the line would have no access to the port but saw the possibility of a horse-drawn tramway through the city. A sufficient speed for the railway was, in his opinion, twelve miles per hour as ‘a line would be much more economically worked at that rate than at the higher velocities’. More significantly, Sheilds commented on the gauge of the proposed railway. ‘The regulation for adopting the same gauge in all the Australian colonies is, I think, a most proper and wise one, but I do not concur in the propriety of fixing that gauge at four feet and eight and a half inches.’ He wanted a wider gauge to increase the steadiness of carriages and diminish the wear of the line and the cost of its maintenance. Questioned by James Macarthur about goods and passenger traffic, Sheilds replied: ‘Passengers are generally the most profitable, but I anticipate that the Company will also realise a large profit from the facility which will be afforded from conveying produce to the market from districts which are now inaccessible’. Thomas Sutcliffe Mort told the committee that he believed the railways would be most profitable to the shareholders and beneficial to the community at large. The railway, said Mort, would help overcome the problem, in times of drought, of cattle arriving in Sydney in a miserable state though they had left their pastures in perfect condition.43




    The new company, under the name of the Sydney Railway Company, was incorporated (after more delays as the Colonial Office hesitated over the financial arrangements) by an Act of the legislature assented to on 10 October 1849 . The company was granted almost all its requests. Two weeks later, Cowper visited Parramatta to talk with its most influential inhabitants. The People’s Advocate commented:




    

      One thing is certain, that provided the line is brought to this large and healthy town and a station fully and permanently established, an immediate and remunerating income will assuredly take place. We have at present the following conveyances from this place daily—a four-horse coach at six o’clock in the morning, a steamer and another four-horse coach at eight o’clock, a third four-horse coach at half-past eight o’clock, a fourth at nine, another steamer at twelve and, lastly, a steamer and a four-horse coach at four o’clock in the afternoon.44


    




    On 10 November, three days before the new company held its first meeting of shareholders, the same newspaper wrote:




    

      The first general meeting is to be held on Tuesday. The shareholders and the community at large are under the deepest obligation to the gentlemen who have been hitherto the working pioneers of this movement, and who have persevered in the face of every discouragement which prejudice and ignorance could throw in their way.45


    




    At the first general half-yearly meeting of shareholders, on 8 January 1850, Charles Cowper was unanimously elected manager. The board refused objections from some shareholders that the salary proposed for him (£600 per annum) was excessive. ‘The only additional salary incurred for the management is that of £1 per week for a book-keeper.’46 The People’s Advocate was supportive.




    

      It is said that the manager’s salary is too high. For what? . . . The labours are Herculean and, what is more, the multifarious duties must require the Hercules who undertakes them to be a gentleman. Not such gentlemen as our Hills, Wentworths, Fitzgeralds and Martins, whose flaunting patriotism and aspirations of independence may at any moment be pretty considerably influenced by a good dinner at Government House. What sympathy have they with colonial enterprise? Give them their old glory back again—give them their old convict system—their old bullock driving—their old lash and triangle—their old penal labour, and the institution of railways may begin at doomsday . . . Railways must go on.47


    




    Sheilds put before the board the results of his survey on the country through which the railway should pass.




    

      Commencing at the metropolis, the first portion of the railway is laid out to serve as a common entrance to Sydney from every part of the interior and is designated the Main Trunk Line. The branches from thence are respectively named on the plans The Parramatta and The Liverpool Lines. The Main Trunk Line commences at the Haymarket near the junction of Elizabeth and Campbell streets in the City of Sydney and passing through the City on Government ground, is carried by Chippendale, Newtown, Ashfield and Homebush along the left or southern side of Parramatta Road to Haslem’s Creek [now Lidcombe], nearly ten and a half miles from its commencement at Sydney. The Parramatta Line is continued from the termination of the Main Trunk Line at Haslem’s Creek to the junction of the Dog Trap [now Woodville Road, Granville] with the Sydney and Parramatta road . . . and from thence under the Western road to the intended Parramatta station . . . The distance to the station is about four and a half miles from the Main Trunk Line and fifteen miles from Sydney.48


    




    The Legislative Council adopted Earl Grey’s recommendation for the establishment of a fund from land sales on 28 August 1849, but the Government continued to favour the device of a financial guarantee . On the last day of 1849 Cowper received a letter with welcome news. It was from the Colonial Secretary, E. Deas Thomson, whose personal views on most matters affecting the colony were influential. Unlike the trim Cowper, Thomson was chubby and engaging. Always elegant and erect in his stance, his forehead was high under receding, dark hair and his face framed with bushy side-whiskers. Son of the accountant-general to the Royal Navy, he was born in Edinburgh in 1800 and educated there, and at Harrow and in France. He had arrived in Sydney in 1828 to take up the position of clerk of the Legislative Council and had subsequently impressed both Darling and Bourke. In January 1837 he became Colonial Secretary, a position of increasing influence which he was to hold for nineteen years. (After 1843 when the Governor no longer took part in the Legislative Council’s procedures, the position of Colonial Secretary also carried with it the leadership of the House.) Described as ‘the ideal public servant, well-educated, capable, loyal, honest, calm and tactful’ he was to have considerable influence in New South Wales up to the era of responsible government.49




    While Deas Thomson, like Earl Grey, did not favour the view that land should be given to the railway company, believing this would divert the company into land jobbing, he did favour a financial guarantee from the Government.50 Earlier he had expressed one particular grave reservation. The Colonial Secretary, despite Cowper’s arguments, was apprehensive about the labour that would be required. ‘It would, in the present state of things, be utterly impossible to employ labour in the formation of railroads without most severely and injuriously abstracting it from the productive pursuits of the Colony.’51 In his letter to Cowper, however, he now advised that the Government had assented to the proposal to guarantee a minimum dividend to shareholders of 4 per cent on the first £100 000 of capital. That battle won, Cowper set about raising the figure to 5 per cent.52 At the same time the Surveyor-General, Thomas Mitchell, forwarded to Deas Thomson the results of four months work by William Shone, assistant surveyor, who had surveyed the route for a line to Goulburn and, as a government officer, had made such an undertaking more credible than had the private efforts of Thomas Woore.




    In a letter to Cowper on 21 May 1850 Sheilds amplified his comments on the gauge that he considered appropriate for the new railway. In England, he said, there existed two gauges, one of 4 feet 8 1/2 inches and one of 7 feet (from London to Bristol). Extended experience, said Sheilds, had shown the narrower gauge more suitable for general traffic.




    

      This gauge, however, has long been complained of by practical persons, both from its rendering the manufacturing and repair of locomotive engines more difficult by crowding their machinery within too narrow a space and from its causing an unsteady motion of the engines and carriages upon the rails, which increased the wear and tear of the line.


    




    At the same time, he said, there were railways of considerable length in course of formation in Ireland. A most thorough investigation had been carried out in England both by the Board of Trade, by a Committee of the House of Commons and by a Body of Commissioners appointed by Royal Authority. As a result an Act had been passed requiring all Irish lines to adopt a gauge of 5 feet 3 inches. It had been shown, said Sheilds, that, as well as facilitating the construction of locomotives, this wider gauge would increase their effective power. He pointed out the severity of the gradients through Camden and concluded that it would be ‘judicious to adopt every measure which may tend to increase the efficiency of the moving power upon them’. He recommended the adoption of the 5-foot-3-inch gauge for the lines of the company.53 Cowper accepted his view and informed the Colonial Secretary on 22 May:




    

      The Directors . . . feel so fully the force of what is urged by Mr Sheilds that they are prepared to act upon the view taken by that gentleman. As the projected line from Sydney to Goulburn will be the first line of railway commenced in the Australian Colonies, no inconvenience need arise from any want of uniformity, provided timely notice be given to the neighbouring Colonies.54


    




    The first financial hurdle had been cleared. Under the act of incorporation the company was forbidden to begin the actual construction of any line until £10 000 was paid into the Colonial Treasury. Cowper was able to tell Deas Thomson on 30 May:




    

      The Directors have the satisfaction of announcing for the information of the Colonial Government that the sum of ten thousand pounds sterling has been paid up by the shareholders and a certificate, under the hand of the Colonial Treasurer, that this amount has been deposited in the Treasury on the Railway account is enclosed.


    




    Further substantial investment was by no means certain. ‘If the squatters and gentlemen of the interior were really desirous to shew that they were interested in the advancement of the colony and the development of its resources, they could take no better means of displaying their earnestness than by becoming shareholders and lending a hand’, commented the People’s Advocate. ‘The apathy which hangs unfortunately over our colonial enterprise is conspicuously exhibited in this matter.’55




    From the Surveyor-General Thomas Mitchell there was opposition to Sheilds’ plan for a terminus in the heart of the city. He wanted it farther out at Grose Farm. ‘I may perhaps be permitted to observe’, he wrote to Deas Thomson,




    

      that the interests of the public and the interests of the Joint Stock Company, not well provided with capital or labor for a public undertaking, may be somewhat distinct; and that bringing the railway into the heart of the city and securing by grant from the Crown large portions of valuable land may be expedient enough as regards the interests of the company.


    




    It was clear he did not consider it expedient for the public interest. ‘The proposed land for a terminus, farther off and less valuable, would answer just as well.’ Mitchell did not, however, oppose the company’s request, conceding that the land they wanted ‘can very well be spared for that purpose . . . should it eventually be decided that the terminus is to be at that spot’.56




    There was now in the colony not only a plan for the first lines and a site for a terminal but a company approved by the Governor and the legislature for the construction of railways. Its progress and the conditions under which it was to operate were to remain very much dependent, in Charles Cowper’s phrase, ‘upon the cordial co-operation of the authorities, Executive and Legislative, both Imperial and Local’.57 Enough had been accomplished to justify the grand ceremony at which His Excellency’s daughter would turn the first sod for the construction of the colony’s railway.




    ‘Yesterday was a great day for Australia’, commented the Sydney Morning Herald on 4 July 1850. ‘The first railway was commenced. It is not now a question whether we shall have railways but how many miles shall be made every year.’




    Only 174 shares were taken up in the first three months of 1850 but there followed a dramatic, if temporary, improvement. On 22 July, at a general meeting of shareholders, the company reported:




    

      Finding, in the month of March last, that there still existed a great backwardness to take shares, the directors considered it to be their duty to urge upon the Colonial Government that the rate of interest to be guaranteed from the Public Revenue of the colony should be raised from four to five per cent; and stating the precedent afforded by the East India Company having granted similar encouragements to obtain the introduction of railroads into British India. Their request having been complied with, the directors have now to report that since the announcement of this arrangement to the public, more than 2000 additional shares have been taken, and upwards of £11,000 additional capital has been paid up.


    




    The public, said the report, was impatient to witness the beginnings of the undertaking ‘and by exhibiting symptoms of activity within the immediate vicinity of Sydney, the directors are of the opinion that the interest now felt will be kept up’.58




    On 2 July 1850, the day before Mrs Stewart’s symbolic contribution to the beginnings of Australia’s railway system, Deas Thomson told Cowper that the Governor had submitted Sheilds’ recommendations on gauge to the Executive Council. The Council




    

      arrived at the conclusion that the gauge of 5 feet 3 inches has been adopted for the Irish Railways as combining in a great measure the respective advantages of the broad and narrow gauges in use in England, and that its superiority has there been admitted by the highest authorities. The Council also expressed their opinion that the gauge should be approved for the railways of this Colony . . . Fully concurring in this view, His Excellency will represent the matter for the favourable consideration of Earl Grey.59


    




    In 1850, four years after the inaugural railways meeting, there were still no physical manifestions, except for voluminous files of correspondence, of any Australian railroad. The total population of all the Australian colonies was now some 400 000, with a little under half of it in New South Wales and the Moreton Bay settlement. In Melbourne and the surrounding districts there were over 75 000 inhabitants. Across to the west the small population of 5000 in the Swan River settlement was at last secure while South Australia and Van Diemen’s Land shared the remaining settlers almost on an equal basis. The year was to see the passage in the Imperial parliament of the Australian Colonies Government Act, approving the separation of Victoria from New South Wales and the right of the individual colonies (excepting Western Australia) to make preparations for their own constitutions based on the Legislative Council of New South Wales (where two-thirds of the members had been elected since 1842). The fight for full responsible and democratic government, led by W. C. Wentworth, was under way.




    In the Sydney Railway Company there was now gloom. For three months after the viceregal ceremony nothing at all was accomplished. Cowper was irritated and pressed for a greater voice in the affairs of the company but the directors resisted him. Shrewd in his tactics, he resigned as manager and sought support from shareholders to reverse a decision of January 1849 preventing the manager from holding a board seat. At a shareholders’ meeting on 8 October 1850 he had his way and, in protest, five of the six directors resigned. Charles Kemp became president of the company and Thomas Sutcliffe Mort joined the board. Cowper was both a director and manager. (Kemp, with John Fairfax, had taken over publication of the Sydney Herald in 1841 and in the following year they became partners to buy the paper on long-term credit from the owner, F. M. Stokes. Kemp looked after the journalistic activities, Fairfax administration and technical matters. In 1853 Kemp, a forceful man of portly build, moral rectitude and commercial acumen, having by then amassed a considerable fortune in insurance, real estate and shares, arranged to sell his interest in the paper to Fairfax.)




    The new board, under Kemp, was more businesslike than its predecessor. The aim of the company was no longer seen as the construction of a short demonstration line to attract capital but was defined clearly as the completion of the line from Sydney to Parramatta.They cancelled the previous board’s order for rolling stock from England and determined to reduce expenditure.60 On 26 November they resolved that, until the works were sufficiently advanced to justify existing salary rates, they would be reduced from the beginning of 1851. Directors’ fees would be discontinued. Cowper argued against the reductions but said that, ‘as he had not been led to join the undertaking from considerations of pecuniary advantage’, he would acquiesce. Sheilds and his assistants tendered their resignations. (H. C. Mais was appointed acting engineer.)61




    At the shareholders meeting in February 1851 there was still, however, an air of depression. The directors had ‘but few observations to offer upon a review of the proceedings of the Company during its past career, or as respects its prospects for the future’. They sounded bitter:




    

      In addition to the apathy of some of their fellow colonists and the undisguised hostility of others . . . obstacles which, from experience they can testify to, still oppose the more speedy progress of the introduction of railways in Australia. They have had to contend with the paralysing effect produced by being compelled to wait, month after month, in anxious suspense, for the decision of the Home Government on matters upon which the whole success of the project depends.


    




    They felt bound in justice to make acknowledgement that ‘but for the countenance and support afforded by the Local Government . . . they should have felt at times disposed to entertain seriously the idea of abandoning a post which is at every stage beset with difficulties and discouragements of no common kind’. Without the cordial co-operation of the government, they said, the company would be unable to carry out the great enterprise. ‘The effect of referring to England for Imperial sanction to measures of local improvement is most disastrous and of itself sufficient to cause the most desirable project to languish and even to fail.’62




    On the same day as the Sydney Railway Company held that 12 February general meeting of shareholders in 1851, a red-faced man of excessive weight, Edward Hargraves, and a young bushman, John Lister, used a pan and cradle to wash the first gold-bearing gravel from Lewis Ponds Creek, north-west of Bathurst and one hundred and seventy miles from Sydney. Hargraves hurried back to Sydney to show his few grains of gold to Deas Thomson and claim a reward from the Crown. While he was there, Lister and a friend found more gold to the north at Yorky’s Corner. The colony suddenly had a payable goldfield. Hargraves called it Ophir, after the biblical city. The discovery of payable gold thirty miles from Bathurst and Hargraves’ subsequent activities in publicizing it (to bring pressure on the Government to reward him) were to disrupt with an astonishing rapidity the fabric of the colony’s commercial, pastoral and social life. They were also to stop dead the first work to begin on the railway.




    On 4 March 1851, when tenders were invited for the construction of the first four and a half miles of railway works from Haslem’s Creek towards Sydney, there was still no public knowledge of these finds. A week later the tender of William Wallis, for £10 000, was accepted and work started immediately. In May, as the Bathurst Free Press spread the news of gold for the taking and Hargraves led men on horseback out along the track to Ophir to show them how to wash for gold and where to dig, the excitement spread. Men in hundreds, many with firearms, left their homes and jobs. On 15 May the Sydney Morning Herald wrote: ‘It is no longer any secret that gold has been found in the earth in several places in the western country’. The following day it lamented: ‘It appears that this colony is to be cursed with a gold-digging mania’.




    In law, all gold belonged to the Crown but the law was powerless to stop the rush. In an effort to control the exodus of labour to Ophir and restrain the mounting frenzy, FitzRoy announced that a licence fee of thirty shillings a month would be paid by all diggers. Police reinforcements were readied and soldiers placed on standby. Wallis lost his labourers and work on the railway ceased. ‘The progress of the works continued satisfactory’, wrote a later Commissioner for Railways in 1865,




    

      until the discovery of gold in the Bathurst country, an event which upset the calculations both of the contractor and the directors, which threatened the former with ruin and entailed much anxiety on the latter from the sudden revolution in the price of labour and materials, which was destined for years to increase enormously the cost of carrying out railway and other works.63


    




    In their mid-year report in 1851 the directors tried to minimize the damage done. ‘The discovery of gold in the Bathurst country caused some interruption’, they wrote. They hoped that ‘with the reaction which is taking place in the labour market, the difficulties which threatened the contractor will vanish’. Not all was disaster. In June they learned that the Act of the Legislative Council incorporating the company had been allowed by Her Majesty, that a permanent guarantee of a minimum dividend rate of 4 per cent on the first £100 000 of subscribed capital had been confirmed by the Imperial Government and that the deeds of the lands granted by the Crown to the company within the city of Sydney had been executed. (The Governor’s recommendation that the guaranteed minimum dividend should be raised to 5 per cent had not reached England at the time but it was later approved.)




    The optimism of the directors was ill-founded. Tenders were called for additional parts of the line but there were no responses because there were no workers available. The directors ‘considered it better to defer entering into any agreement during the present unsettled state of the labour market’.64 Even as they were presenting their July 1851 report, an Aborigine on the sheep station of a Dr Kerr, fifty miles north of Bathurst, found a huge mass of gold in a quartz outcrop. From one single stone 1272 ounces of gold were taken. There was another rush in the months that followed. The earlier madness, though, seemed tempered. While as many as six thousand men were working the diggings at the peak of the 1851 rush, on average there were some 2500 licensed miners in the field to the end of the year. Men began to reject the gamble of the goldfields and stayed at their jobs in the city or returned to the properties of their masters for the shearing and the harvesting.




    In that same month, Deas Thomson told Cowper that FitzRoy had heard from Earl Grey on the matter of Sheilds’ recommendation for the adoption of a 5-foot-3-inch gauge for any railway.




    

      I am now instructed by the Governor-General to acquaint you that . . . His Lordship expresses his intention not to oppose the adoption of the gauge for which His Excellency and the Executive Council of this Colony had expressed a decided preference. It will be my duty to communicate this decision to the Governments of South Australia and Victoria.65


    




    Cowper moved in the Legislative Council in early December 1851 that the discovery of gold in the interior of New South Wales rendered the construction of improved means of internal communication of deeper importance than ever to the prosperity of the colony and that




    

      as a great influx of immigrants may be expected . . . it is desirable that some large public works should be in such a state of forwardness that in the event of a greater number arriving than the immediate necessities of the pastoral and agricultural interests require, employment may be offered to a portion of them.


    




    He wanted the Executive Government to give ‘very liberal aid and encouragement to expedite the formation of railroads’.66




    Those two essential elements of capital and labour, that had seemed earlier to be so simple of solution, continued to confound the company. Though the directors were able to report in January 1852 that considerable progress had at last been made by their contractor, Wallis, there were arguments with the Government about whether the guaranteed interest should be paid only on monies actually expended or on the whole of the subscribed capital. Deas Thomson told Cowper that while the Executive Council was aware that public confidence might be destroyed if the former course were adopted, there could be injury to the public interest if payments were to be made on the whole of the capital while it remained unproductive. A middle course was decided, he said, in which interest would be allowed absolutely on the first forty thousand pounds of paid-up capital.67 The issue seemed for a time academic; only ten more shares were sold in the first six months of 1852. It became increasingly clear that lack of capital alone could stop the project.




    In July 1852 Cowper, after resigning as manager, once again became president of the company. Despite the company’s capital predicament, he asked Deas Thomson for government assistance in bringing labourers from England so that work could continue on an increasing scale. Though the Colonial Secretary was not averse to his request, he wanted assurances that the company could employ and pay the labourers. Cowper responded that, while the importation of labourers was necessary to continue the work, ‘without additional encouragement to aid in raising further capital no large amount of labour could be paid for, nor the railway completed even to Parramatta’.68




    Amidst this seeming confusion the company’s new Engineer-in-Chief, James Wallace, arrived from England on 9 July. Wallace inspected the work that had been completed and found there was ‘nothing in his opinion requiring to be undone’. The main features of the line were unobjectionable and the bridges erected sufficiently strong. Wallace, however, drew the board’s attention ‘very pointedly to the necessity . . . for making a double line of railway between Sydney and Parramatta’ which, he felt certain, would ‘make an ample return for the capital required in its construction and working’.69 The company at that stage had raised a total capital of only £22 503 of which £15 321 had been spent and £7000 was due to Wallis, yet the directors accepted Wallace’s advice for a double line and the increased expenditure that this involved.70 At the general meeting of shareholders on 5 August 1852, however, they reported it ‘their imperative duty to request the attention of the shareholders to the financial condition of the company’. If, they said, the remaining shares were not to be taken up in the Colony, ‘they will forthwith be offered for sale in the London market where, as they bear an interest of 5 per cent secured upon the land fund of the colony, they cannot doubt but that they will be readily disposed of. They were, they said, in communication with the local Government on the importation of several hundred labourers but felt ‘in the altered circumstances of the Colony, the available means on which they can rely will only enable them to accomplish, comparatively speaking, very little’. They indulged the hope that the Government would advance funds to the company to prevent its proceedings being interrupted.71 The board did not proceed to seek the additional capital they needed in London. Instead, a deputation waited on Deas Thomson to see if the government would accede to an application for issuing debentures for £50 000 and extending its guarantee beyond £100 000. But Deas Thomson would not agree.




    Cowper wrote to him:




    

      ‘The directors have . . . persevered against all discouragement [and] have also proceeded with the construction of the works so far as the means afforded would permit. The unsettled state of the guarantee has, however, always interposed a difficulty in the way of their shares being extensively undertaken, more especially as the Government has generally been competing with them in the market in the sale of debentures for immigration purposes. The gold discovery has also greatly increased their difficulties. No sooner had their first contract been taken than the restlessness of the labouring population commenced and the contractor has been struggling with little effect against a state of things the most perplexing; and in consequence it has become evident that if the works are to be carried out with any spirit the company must import labourers.


    




    He wanted the Government to pay their passages from the Territorial Revenue.




    

      The circumstances of the Colony have so changed since the year 1848, when the idea was first entertained of commencing the formation of railways, that the estimates that were then prepared . . . are no guide whatever to the present time. The great increase in the wages of labour and the difficulty of procuring it at any price; the rise in the cost of materials; the high value placed upon the land and timber required; and the obstacles thrown in the way of obtaining them by proprietors and occupiers; these and other matters, some of them never contemplated, prove that even to reach Parramatta, the nearest town to Sydney, and procure the iron work and machinery necessary . . . will consume more than the whole sum upon which the guarantee is pledged; and to attempt to raise funds without a guarantee would . . . be hopeless.


    




    Without funds even to reach Parramatta, Cowper, in some desperation, suggested a vast extension of the enterprise.




    

      The original project was to make a railway between Sydney and Goulburn, but the directors feel that attention ought now to be directed to the connecting of the cities of Sydney and Melbourne . . . [They] do not conceive that a Government guarantee of less than £1,000,000 will be of any essential benefit in an undertaking so gigantic . . .72


    




    In the midst of these financial problems there was another change in policy on the gauge of the line that was to have enduring and disastrous effects for Australia. James Wallace, the new Engineer-in-Chief, reported to the directors that, before leaving England, he had made particular enquiries on the practical working of the 5-foot-3-inch gauge proposed for the colony. It had not been proved, he said, that more powerful locomotives would result from greater space between the rails for their machinery.




    

      In practice it has been found that no advantage commensurate with the increased expense has been attained and the improvements which have been made in the narrow gauge engines in late years have given them ample power for the heaviest traffic in England . . . The narrow gauge has been found to combine in a higher degree than any other the great commercial requisites for a railway, namely speed, safety, convenience and economy. For these reasons it has been adopted, with little exception, throughout Europe and America and in India and Egypt, where the highest engineering talent has been employed.73


    




    Cowper passed this critical information to Deas Thomson and said:




    

      The directors freely admit that the responsibility of having obtained the sanction of an alteration in the gauge originally suggested by Earl Grey in his Lordship’s despatch of 30 June 1848 rests with them . . . It now appears in practice to have been found that the advantages which were anticipated by the increase of the gauge from four feet eight and a half inches to five feet three inches have not been realised, while the inconvenience of adopting a gauge which has very much gone out of favour are stated by Mr Wallace to be very great.


    




    He asked that this important subject ‘may be reconsidered by the Government before any railways are laid down in this or either of the adjacent Colonies.74




    In January 1853 Cowper was advised by Deas Thomson with some irony that the Government accepted this change to the former views ‘so earnestly pressed by the Sydney Railway Company’.75 Although no lines had been laid in those adjacent, junior colonies, one week before Deas Thomson wrote to Cowper, on 20 January 1853, Victoria legislated to approve the 5-foot-3-inch gauge for the Melbourne and Hobson’s Bay Railway Company. Both South Australia and Victoria, committed to orders placed overseas for rolling stock for the 5-foot-3-inch gauge, were not prepared to follow New South Wales again in what seemed capricious and offhand behaviour. They resolved to stay with the wider gauge. On 4 August 1853 New South Wales formally repealed the 1852 legislation for the 5-foot-3-inch gauge and nominated the 4-foot-8V2-inch gauge. Australia was, as a result, to inherit its costly system of mixed gauges.




    The site of the city terminus for the line was also to change and, with it, an extension of the line to serve the harbour was proposed. As with the matter of gauge, Wallace was the initiator. In September 1852 he told his board: ‘I now beg to submit to you a plan of the proposed terminus in Cleveland Paddock and a branch connecting therewith passing through the Ultimo Estate to Darling Harbour . . . It will be seen that this involves the abandonment of the station formerly proposed in the Haymarkef.76 Wallace also insisted that the bridges and viaducts on the line should be built not of timber but of masonry and bricks for their greater strength, durability and safety and that the line itself should be laid with rolled iron rails Of a weight of 75 lb per yard, constructed upon a principle invented by an English engineer of eminence (Mr Barlow)’.77




    Deas Thomson dismissed Cowper’s vision of a railway line to Melbourne as premature but told Cowper that the Executive Council would agree to recommend free passages for up to five hundred railway labourers to Her Majesty’s Land and Emigration Commissioners.78 The company now certainly had government backing to bring out the labourers it needed, but it had no money to meet the considerable increase that this large force would bring in the wages bill. It was abundantly clear that the classic mechanisms of the private-enterprise system could no longer sustain the plan for a railway.




    For the remainder of 1852 Cowper pleaded, Deas Thomson mediated and the Government vacillated. Cowper asked that the unemployed deposits in the Savings Bank be made available and quoted ‘precedents drawn from the Mother Country’ to support his pleas.79 On 12 October the directors waited on the Colonial Secretary in their entirety and, two days later, Cowper set out the company’s desperate position in writing. The total amount received from the shareholders, he said, was now £24 520; the actual expenditure of the company was £20 918. Taking into account further calls on shareholders to December, he wrote: ‘Thus the whole amount which may be calculated as available by 31 December 1852 is not more than £7,700. Against this there are two heavy items . . . amounting together to £2,500, leaving only about £5,000 to be appropriated for carrying on the works’. The company was close to insolvency and surrender. Cowper made a formal appeal for additional aid from the public resources. There had been, he said,




    

      the uncertainty which attended a reference to the guarantee question to the Secretary of State; this, combined with the low rate of interest given has tended to keep back those . . . who have easily obtained a better return for their capital. Neither trustees of estates nor the trustees of the Savings Bank appear to consider themselves justified in taking shares . . . The large amount of Government debentures and the large dividends made by the banks and other public institutions, together with the large profits made by the purchase of gold have also drawn off much of the capital.


    




    He added, in obvious depression and pessimism: It cannot be denied that there has been a very general impression that the project was so premature that no reasonable hope could be entertained that the money expended would produce any good result, but rather that the whole undertaking would be a failure’.




    Cowper then summarized the work that was under way. Wallis, the contractor, had asked that he be released from his contract without enforcement of the penalties attached to its non-fulfilment and the board, he said, had recognized that as he could not have foreseen the disruption of the labour market and the great rise in costs, this was just. The advantages that had initially been seen by the board in starting construction of the line at a distance from Sydney itself instead of in the immediate neighbourhood had been over-estimated and they had ‘adopted the suggestion of the engineer-in-chief that an experiment should be made by the employment of a limited number of men on that part of the line extending between the Cleveland Paddocks and the village of Ashfield’. They had




    

      accordingly accepted the offer of Mr Randle, a gentleman strongly recommended to their notice by the engineer-in-chief and who accompanied him from England, to execute certain portions of the work. . . Considerable progress has thus been made’, he wrote, ‘in the cuttings, culverts and other preliminary works upon which upwards of one hunded men are now employed.


    




    Although the directors were most anxious to push forward the undertaking they were, he said, ‘compelled nevertheless to confine themselves to the pecuniary means at their disposal’.80




    Although the company had spent almost all its capital, it had no finished works to show for it. ‘Hitherto’, wrote Cowper, ‘with the exception of the contract before alluded to, the operations of the company have been chiefly of a preliminary character’. It had surveys of the country to Parramatta and Liverpool and on through Appin, Campbell-town and Bargo; it had settled with many of the proprietors and occupiers of the land needed; but, as for completed line, their new engineer now estimated that the cost to complete and open only a single line between Sydney and Parramatta would be £188 420, while a double line would add a further £30 000. Wallace also wanted immediate approval to order rails and other related equipment costing £16 179 plus rolling stock worth £23 800. (He wanted four locomotive engines, eight first-class carriages, twelve second and twelve third-class carriages and sixty goods trucks and vans.) Cowper asked for a loan of £150 000 of public money.81




    Though it was the discovery of gold that had, together with the cumulative delays inherent in seeking decisions from Her Majesty’s Government, been responsible for many of the company’s problems with labour and costs, the effects of the gold discovery on the wealth and growth of the colony now favoured the company. The Executive Council no longer felt nagging doubts that a railway was premature. It approved the assistance sought by Cowper and recorded ‘that the time has arrived when without some energetic effort on the part of the government, the introduction of railways in this Colony now more than ever necessary to the development of its great resources will be seriously retarded—it may be indefinitely postponed’.82 A Bill authorizing government assistance to the company received royal assent on 27 December 1852.




    With this commitment of public money came the beginnings of direct government control. The Act vested in the Government the right to appoint three directors. It had been the intention of the Government, wrote Deas Thomson,




    

      to maintain an efficient control over the direction of the company so long as it continues to advance from the Public Treasury so large a proportion as three-fifths of the amount estimated to be necessary for the execution of that portion of the work which has recently been determined upon.83


    




    From its very beginnings the destiny of the Sydney Railway Company had been decided by the degree of government support; from the end of 1852 it was to rely absolutely on the government. The company had barely avoided bankruptcy but, with unusually swift action from the Colonial Government, it was now able to proceed with the section of line from the city to Ashfield.




    At the company’s general meeting in January 1853 the nature of the board, and of the future direction of railway construction and operation in New South Wales, changed. Cowper asked the shareholders to sanction and give security for the pecuniary aid from the Government. ‘If the proposal be sanctioned, it will be the duty of the meeting to elect three directors to represent the shareholders who will, with the three directors to be appointed by the Governor-General, form the future board for managing the affairs [of the company].’ The promised assistance, he said, would effect an immediate and complete alteration in the state of the company’s affairs. The proposal was agreed and the meeting elected Charles Cowper, T. W. Smart and Charles Kemp as the three directors who were to represent the private shareholders on the new board.84




    Thomas Sutcliffe Mort (who had been a director from 1850 to 1851) was one of a small group of businessmen who now saw the possibility of great future profit from the Sydney-Parramatta line. The Government’s commitment of funds seemed to ensure its completion. The line to Parramatta would, as railways extended to the south, the west and the north, become a great artery along which all traffic and trade would pass between Sydney and the rest of the colony. Those who controlled this line would have a monopoly of all traffic in and out of Sydney no matter who controlled the more distant lines. Mort and another businessman, Thomas Holt, bought 2000 shares on 15 March 1853 and then, two days later, combined with two others (T. W. Smart and J. B. Darvall) to buy a further 5624 shares. The remainder of the available shares also sold quickly and Cowper advised Deas Thomson on 19 March 1853 that ‘the whole of the 20,000 shares into which the £100,000 capital of the Company is divided have been taken up’.85




    Under Wallace’s direction, and despite the continuing difficulty in getting competent labour, five bridges were completed and two started at the Sydney end of the line, ten culverts were completed with five in progress, some two miles of ditching were completed and 70 000 cubic yards of earthwork put in place in the first half of 1853, all work being ‘of the most substantial and permanent description’.86 In March locomotives, rails and other railway stock were ordered from England for use on a gauge of 4 feet 8V2 inches.87 As Wallace arranged for the regular payment of weekly wages for the men and an independent entrepreneur provided a timber and hessian two-storey portable public house for them (the Russell Arms), the labour problem eased. The injection of government aid had brought new vigour and enthusiasm. With the imminent arrival of five hundred navvies from England, Randle was given the contract for the complete works between Sydney and Parramatta plus an advance of £1500 to prepare housing for them. Wallace was instructed to report on the country through which might pass an extension of the line towards Goulburn and Bathurst.




    The government aid that fostered these advances also ended Charles Cowper’s involvement in the company. In August 1853, the three directors appointed by the Government, F. S. L. Mere wether (the colony’s Auditor-General), H. G. Smith and Thomas Barker, took their seats on the board. There was an election for the position of president of the company and both Cowper and Mere wether received equal votes. The matter was referred to the Governor-General. (A petition with one hundred and seventeen signatures submitted ‘that the removal of Mr Cowper from the Presidentship after so many years labour and struggling for the interests of the company would be an act of great injustice to him’.)88 FitzRoy, after conferring with the Executive Council, not unexpectedly declared the government representative, the Auditor-General, to be president.89 Cowper resigned from the board.




    In the new climate of optimism for railways another group of businessmen, led by W. C. Wentworth, had met in April to form a second company to build a railway line from the port of Newcastle, north of Sydney, inland to Maitland.(They included Charles Kemp, Charles Nicholson and T. W. Smart, who had all supported the Sydney Railway Company.) The group quickly raised £100 000 capital and on 10 October 1853 the Legislative Council approved a Bill for the incorporation of the Hunter River Railway Company and gave it government guarantees. Their hopes were high. They judged that




    

      the districts of which Maitland might be considered the emporium were by far the most productive and important of the Colony, whether considered with reference to their agricultural, their pastoral or their mineral wealth; that they were already the seat of a dense and rapidly increasing agricultural and mining population and their extensive coalfields alone must attract to them a large manufacturing population . . . that a railway having a terminus in Maitland and Newcastle . . . would command with very trifling exceptions the whole trade of the northern districts and would soon supersede the small coasting vessels.90


    




    A contract was let for a line as far as Hexham and, in November 1853, Wallace was appointed as a consulting engineer to the company.




    All the labourers from England for the Sydney Railway Company had arrived by November and in January Wallace reported that all the cuttings except three between Sydney and Parramatta were complete. Quarries had been opened and brickworks established along the line and over five miles of line had been formed ready for the laying of the rails. The strikes and insubordination of the workmen in England, and the great demand for ironwork, have caused delay in the shipment of rails and also increased their cost’, the directors reported in January 1854. (During the early construction of the line wooden rails were used as there were no iron rails available. These wore rapidly and, because they had to be replaced frequently, were later capped with thin iron plate.)




    A contract for four engines had been agreed with Stephensons at £2685 for each engine and tender. Another contract for thirty-four carriages, fifty-one goods trucks and seven other vans had been let in England with Wright and Co., of Birmingham. The shareholders were told of ‘the enormous increase which has taken place within the last few months in the wages of labour and the price of materials [which] will raise the cost of the line to Parramatta much above the sum stated in the Chief Engineer’s report of January 1853’. The cost had jumped from £218 420 to £302 806, excluding an estimated additional £15 000 for freight of the rails and rolling stock. In addition the formation of the branch line to Darling Harbour and the station needed there involved a further £69 000. ‘Before the end of the present year [1854]’, said the directors, ‘it is expected that a considerable portion of the men employed on the earthwork will no longer be required on this side of Parramatta and preparations must therefore be made for their employment on the continuance of the line’. To meet the £139 000 deficiency in funds needed to complete work in progress and to proceed with works beyond Parramatta the directors proposed to raise an additional £100 000 by the issue of twenty thousand new shares (doubling the company’s authorized capital), to ask for an extension of the 5-per-cent dividend guarantee on this capital and to apply to the Government for the promise of a further loan of £150 000.91 (The Government approved this request in August 1854 but made it clear that the funds were intended only to complete the double line as far as Parramatta.)92




    By early 1854, as work proceeded on the short line between Sydney and Parramatta, a vision for a great national railway system linking South Australia, Victoria and New South Wales emerged. The Lieutenant-Governor of South Australia, Sir Henry Young, wrote to the Duke of Newcastle (then Secretary of State) that he had observed in the public newspapers ‘that a deputation representing gentlemen in London interested in the very important and useful public work of establishing by an association of private capitalists, railway communication between Sydney and Melbourne, have solicited your Grace’s official support’. He submitted on behalf of the colony of South Australia, ‘that the proposed undertaking requires a more comprehensive character . . . and instead of being confided to private speculators, is eminently entitled to be promoted and directed by the Imperial Government’. He proposed the extension of such a project to connect ‘Adelaide, Sydney and Melbourne and not be confined to only two of the capitals’. Sir Henry asked that ‘such public works be treated as national and therefore to be carried out by the combined action of the Imperial Government and the provinces of New South Wales, Victoria and South Australia’. The railway was to consist of a grand trunk route having three terminals, one in each city, with ‘the terminal station . . . to be alongside a dock capable of floating the largest class of ocean steamers and ships’. The railway and the docks were to be under one central management. The cost of construction of this complete system was estimated at £21 000 000, the time to construct it seven years and the annual revenue just under £1 000 000- or nearly 5 per cent on the capital required.93 (South Australia’s modest Port Elliot and Goolwa Railway opened in May 1854 on a 5-foot-3-inch gauge. The rolling stock was, however, horse-drawn.)




    At much the same time, in New South Wales, there was growing criticism of the progress of the Sydney Railway Company and the method of financing it. A New Railway Movement was initiated in January 1854 at a meeting where Charles Nicholson drew attention to the high costs of transportation for the mining and grazing industries. It wanted trunk lines built far out into the interior of the colony and was particularly concerned with the increasing movement of produce from the Riverina area to the port of Melbourne and by steamboats working along the River Murray (which formed the border between the two colonies and provided a link with Adelaide). Far more controversial in its immediacy than the need for extended railways was the method by which railway construction should be financed. Mort was convinced that the colony itself could provide all the necessary capital from private sources; Dunmore Lang, Wentworth and the Railway Progress Committee formed by the New Railway Movement saw the answer in land grants (which were against government policy); some insisted that only exclusive government involvement could provide the great amounts of capital needed; others proposed partnership between government and private enterprise.




    Criticism of the Sydney Railway Company in the Legislative Council extended to its technical competence. Doubts were expressed about the stability of the works under construction. The company met them head on with a request that ‘His Excellency would be pleased to appoint a Commission of scientific and competent persons’ to enquire into the matter. The Sydney Morning Herald reported on 12 July 1854: ‘In the course of the debate . . . the directors had unanimously arrived at the conclusion that such an inquiry and report was due to themselves and their officers (loud cheers). They had not the least doubt as to the result of the investigation’.94




    In August 1854 there was wider scrutiny of the company’s achievements and its likely future. A select committee of the Legislative Council, under Cowper’s chairmanship and including the Colonial Treasurer and Chief Commissioner of Crown Lands, met to consider measures for improving the colony’s roads and for the general introduction of railways in the colony. Its findings were to set the whole future pattern for the development of railways in New South Wales.




    James Wallace told the committee that the cost of the double line to Parramatta, including rolling stock but excluding the Darling Harbour extension, was now put at £19 000 per mile. (Cowper himself in 1848 had estimated it at under £4000 per mile and Wallace’s new estimate was to prove woefully low.) The company, he said, had lost many of the labourers imported from England who had been ‘not accustomed to the steady hard work from morning to night that a railway navvy is expected to submit to’. (There may have been other reasons; Wallace described his assistant, Brady, as someone ‘who would skin any man he had under him’). He wanted more men imported for work beyond Parramatta and said that though work to date had been delayed for want of rails he thought it would take two to three years to complete an extension to Goulburn. Charles Kemp pressed for an early government decision to extend the line beyond Parramatta so that the labouring force, now nearly finished its work, could be kept together. ‘I think Parramatta is too near Sydney to make it by any means certain that the settlers and squatters sending their produce from distant parts of the country would unload at Parramatta to send them the last fifteen miles by railroad.’ Kemp, in a significant question, was asked whether he would approve a complete government take-over of the company but declined to comment officially as a director. As a member of the community, he said, he favoured such a move.




    The question of government versus private ownership of railways became central to the committee’s inquiries. One man who was never to be a politician and who never sought to lead public opinion but who personified the energies and enterprise of private business, Thomas Sutcliffe Mort, was now examined. Mort was born in Lancashire in 1816 and came as a clerk to Sydney in 1838. Five years later, when his employers went out of business in the commercial crisis of 1843, Mort set up as an auctioneer. It was the beginning of a remarkable career of benefit both to Mort and to the colony. His interests, as an able financier and indomitable entrepreneur, were to range across the pastoral industries, gold mining, steam vessels for the harbour and coastal trade, copper, coal, the export of beef, the cold storage of produce and the frozen meat trade, a great dry dock in Balmain and railways. ‘His career is one record of labour’, wrote a later admirer.




    

      His commercial record is a pure and clean one and his character for honour and high-minded probity is above and beyond reproach. In all these respects his character is so strongly marked as to make him a model and exemplar of commercial life in Australia and a representative figure amongst colonial mercantile men.95


    




    Mort (whose shareholding in the Sydney Railway Company was large) told the select committee:




    

      I am of opinion that there can be no better system devised for carrying railways into effect than that under which our present railway companies exist and I think any amount of money could be raised in this country for railway purposes if the shares were made transferable to bearer and were made in law what they are in effect . . . a positive government security.


    




    In the next three years, he said, they could raise a million pounds a year ‘for to my own knowledge there is now a system of hoarding going on throughout the colony . . . hoarding money does no good to anybody; it is like hiding a light under a bushel’. The committee questioned him on the matter that was clearly their major preoccupation.




    

      Then you think that if the railway were . . . to be constructed altogether under the supervision of the Government the prospect of success would not be so great as that under the present mode of management?




      It would not, [said Mort] I think that all matters which are capable of being carried out by the enterprise of the people ought not to be entrusted to the Government. As a general rule I think that the energy of private enterprise is superior to that of Government . . .




      Private enterprise in this instance, he was asked tartly, can only be profitable by means of a Government guarantee?




      There must [Mort replied] be some inducement to people to take these shares. At present this is an untried matter. If we had a railway in operation it is possible that we need not come to the Government at all, but until then we must come to the Government . . . We seek it to give us a positive standing to enable us to obtain the funds.


    




    The questioning became more pointed. If, Mort was asked, a law were passed enabling the company to extend its capital to half a million pounds, with a government guarantee to pay interest on that money, would he ‘consider the company would be entitled to any premium that might be made upon these snares so secured on the lands of the country?’ Mort made it clear that he thought the original shareholders should get the benefit, arguing that in that way the company itself would also have to benefit and therefore ‘if this premium went to the company it would go to the payment of the company’s debts and . . . would be just as beneficial to the Government . . . for if the profits of the company should not prove equal to the interest guaranteed, the Government would have to pay the difference’. Under the existing arrangement of the board, with three directors appointed by the government, Mort described the public interest as well protected. ‘It is the people’s money directed by the Government.’ The people needed roads, he said and, through the government, had to pay for them.




    

      Why not, then, have railroads, especially when they can be obtained at a lesser cost than even the wretched apologies for roads which we have hitherto been compelled to use! It is pretty well known that the cost per mile of merely macadamising George Street will far exceed the average cost per mile of the double line of rail from Sydney to Parramatta . . . We are wasting labour on the Goulburn road alone sufficient to make in the course of the next few years an equal extent of railway.96


    




    Charles Kemp, in a second appearance before the committee, had an exchange with its chairman (and former president of the Sydney Railway Company), Charles Cowper, that had every appearance of a well-rehearsed eulogy for the company’s founders. It also demolished Mort’s view of the company as an undertaking driven by the commercial enterprise of individuals.




    

      Cowper: ‘In starting the Sydney Railway Company, is it not fact that yourself and other colonists took shares solely with a view of setting railways on foot in the Colony, and without a view to any pecuniary advantage?’




      Kemp: ‘Yes, I know there were a few who did so’.




      Cowper: ‘Was not that railway almost entirely carried on for the first three or four years by the contributions of persons actuated by a similar motive?’




      Kemp: ‘It cannot be denied that . . . the Sydney Railway Company was got up from a desire to benefit the Colony by the introduction of railways and that, in the eyes of the projectors, profit was a secondary consideration’.




      Cowper: ‘And was pushed on, through adverse circumstances, for years by men who sacrificed not only their money but their time?’




      Kemp: ‘Yes, and were subjected to some amount of ridicule for their quixoticism’.97


    




    As the select committee ended its proceedings, the board of inspection charged with investigating the technical competence of the company presented its report. ‘The whole line of works . . . embracing every description of work, have been designed and carried out upon scientific principles, founded upon sound judgement and practical experience in railway engineering’, the board wrote.98




    In November 1854 the select committee on roads and railways made its final report to the Legislative Council and initiated the events that were to lead to the demise of the Sydney Railway Company. It affirmed that, whatever the cost, the time had arrived for railway construction in the colony to be taken up on a large scale in a comprehensive rail system and that this general introduction of railways ought no longer be deferred. (In Victoria the first steam railway in Australia had opened in mid-September, running two and a half miles between Sandridge (Port Melbourne) and Melbourne on the 5-foot-3-inch gauge. It was privately owned by the Melbourne and Hobson’s Bay Railway Company.)




    The circumstances of the colony had, said the committee, completely changed since 1849. Sheilds had then estimated the cost of lines between Sydney, Parramatta and Liverpool at £2348 per mile. The actual cost of the line under construction to Parramatta and bringing it into operation ‘may be fairly set down at not less than £400,000, or about £26,000 per mile, including the branch to Darling Harbour’. (It was, indeed, to prove much more than £400 000.) Of that sum, they wrote,




    

      £200,000 will be capital actually advanced by the Government, while interest is permanently payable upon the other moiety at the rate of 5 per cent, secured upon the Land Fund of the Colony. Nor is this all; the completion of the line as far as Parramatta may be designated as only the beginning of the work.


    




    Beyond Parramatta a single line within the confines of the county of Cumberland in the direction of Goulburn, plus a line to Richmond with a branch to Penrith would cost some £700 000; to carry the single line to Goulburn would cost a further £2 000 000.




    

      The question . . . as to how the funds shall be raised, and by whom they shall be expended, is one requiring very grave consideration. An experiment extending over five years has proved that the Colonists will not advance any funds for railway purposes unless the Government is prepared to guarantee the interest upon them and also to provide capital to a much greater extent than that raised by private individuals


    




    The Government, said the committee, had already gone to the utmost extent justifiable under this arrangement. ‘As it seems to be now acknowledged that private companies cannot succeed in constructing railways without Government aid upon a scale which ought not to be conceded, your Committee recommend that these important works should be taken up by the Governnment.’




    The Government was, they said, already pledged to provide £300 000 of capital, if demanded by the Sydney Railway Company, and also to the annual payment of £10 000 for the interest on the £200 000 raised by shareholders. ‘The management under which these large sums of money is being expended is not, in the opinion of your Committee, either sound in principle or efficient in practice.’ When it became necessary to build on a larger scale, they wrote, ‘the present mode of conducting the affairs of the company will be found still more defective’.




    

      Your Committee therefore recommend that, as the Sydney Railway Company may be considered to have acknowledged its inability to proceeed with any works beyond Parramatta, an Act of Council should be obtained giving to the Government the power, in the first instance, to construct railways in the County of Cumberland . . . and that the necessary powers for carrying out such works should be conferred on a department to be created


    




    The interest of the Sydney Railway Company in the line between Sydney and Parramatta, they recommended, should be purchased by the Government. They also recommended the purchase by the Government of the Hunter River Railway Company.




    In its final remarks, the select committee extended its vision of a comprehensive railway system for New South Wales to match and welcome that of the Lieutenant-Governor of South Australia, Sir Henry Young, for connecting Adelaide, Melbourne and Sydney by rail. The population of all these colonies is increasing so rapidly that the scheme can hardly be considered premature, notwithstanding the immense extent of railway which would have to be constructed.’99




    The People’s Advocate thought the select committee’s report One of the most important and interesting that has yet been published by the Council’. It was not as kind to the company. The present Railway Company have, to say the least of it, been extremely remiss in their duty. They appear to have left things more to chance than to have foreseen and provided all that would be required.’ It thought the committee’s recommendation that ‘the whole of the railway works throughout the colony should be taken up by the Government’ the only practicable plan that could be pursued.100




    It was Cowper who had worked hardest to bring the Sydney Railway Company into being and sustain its uncertain progress in the face of criticism and delay and it was Cowper and his committee who now saw clearly that it was inadequate for the immense task that lay ahead. Events moved swiftly. On 2 December1854 His Excellency Sir Charles Augustus FitzRoy, Knight Commander of the Most Honourable Order of the Bath, Knight Companion of the Royal Hanoverian Guelphic Order, Governor-General of all Her Majesty’s Australian Possessions and Captain-General and Governor-in-Chief of the Territory of New South Wales and its Dependencies and Vice-Admiral of the same, ‘having arrived at the Chamber [of the Legislative Council] was conducted by the Speaker to an elevated seat provided for him near the Speaker’s chair’. The Speaker presented to His Excellency for the royal assent a Bill for ‘an Act to make provision for the construction by the Government of railways in the Colony of New South Wales’ and containing provisions for the purchase by the Government of the Sydney and Hunter River Railway Companies. His Excellency declared that in the name and on behalf of Her Majesty, he assented to the Act. His action brought to a close the protracted session of the Council. It was also the occasion of his farewell address; his term as Governor was over.




    

      ‘It would have afforded me great pleasure’, FitzRoy told the Council, to be able to aid in any manner in facilitating the comprehensive system of railway communication contemplated in the Address which you have caused to be presented to me; but the near approach of the termination of my Government renders it desirable and proper that I should leave the initiation of such an undertaking to the very able officer whom Her Majesty has chosen to succeed me.


    




    FitzRoy had accepted the principle that the main lines of railway throughout the colony should be constructed by the government but, he told Cowper, he did not ‘feel at liberty to pledge the Government to any greater extent than may be required to provide for the continuance of the railway lines now in progress’.101




    Two days after FitzRoy’s assent to this Act the contractor, Randle, severely embarrassed Cowper and his directors by an offer to complete the line to Parramatta at a cost of some £100 000 in excess of Wallace’s January 1854 estimate which, he had repeatedly reassured them, was accurate.102 Wallace’s explanation was brief:




    

      Having been led to suppose that a considerable fall in the price of labour was likely to take place, I made a reduction in my estimate amounting to nearly 20 per cent. Instead, however, of wages falling they continued to advance . . In consequence, the cost of the line to Parramatta, together with the harbour branch and works in Cleveland Paddock will amount to about £500,000. This sum will include the cost of rolling stock, sheds and temporary stations, erecting engines and carriages.103


    




    (John Rae, a later Commissioner of Railways, commented: ‘This startling announcement must have convinced the shareholders of the hopelessness of carrying out the works so as to yield a sufficient return on the capital invested and prepared them for a transfer of their property to the Government on anything like reasonable terms’.)104




    At the company’s general meeting in January 1855 the directors reported that the delivery of rails had been nearly completed and considerable portions of the carriages, wagons, cranes and iron work had arrived by the Bella Islena in September. Four engines and tenders and other rolling stock were, as they met, unloading from ships in the harbour and further rolling stock and machinery was on its way. The meeting heard of the sequence of events that were to make this the last general meeting of the company. On 3 January an extraordinary general meeting had unanimously passed a resolution to dissolve the company ‘and to sell and dispose of the railways and all other property, works and effects belonging to the company to Her Majesty’s Government’.105 On 5 January the three Commissioners for Railways whose appointment was authorized by the Act (Ward, Barker and Kemp) were named in the Government Gazette. The directors, they said,




    

      cannot but anticipate that it [the resolution calling for the company’s dissolution] will be finally adopted at the second extraordinary meeting to be held on 22 January and that then it will be their duty to conclude with the Government the arrangements necessary for the sale of the property on the terms authorised


    




    At that second meeting the shareholders affirmed this resolution but considerable correspondence was to follow before the actual transfer of property of both the Sydney and Hunter River railway companies was effected. The Hunter River Railway Company, too, wrote John Rae, ‘after an existence of little more than a year . . . had to yield to the pressure of the times and be swallowed up by the Government, thus affording another proof of the impractibility of carrying out railways in the Colony by private enterprise’.106 In all, the financial commitment of the Government was (for the capital and liabilities taken over) £520 872 for the Sydney Railway Company and £307 054 for the Hunter River Railway Company. (Transfer of the property of the Hunter River Railway was made on 30 July and of the Sydney Railway Company on 3 September.)




    On 20 January 1855 Sir William Denison took up his appointment as Governor of New South Wales and, nominally, Governor-General of the Australian colonies (a title he had cancelled before the end of the year). Denison was a great contrast to his predecessor. Born in 1804, he entered the Military Academy in England when he was fifteen and at nineteen had passed the requirements necessary for the Royal Engineers. He had worked in Canada for four years from 1827 on the construction of the Rideau Canal and was made an associate of the Institute of Civil Engineers for a report on American timbers. At twenty-one he was an instructor of engineer cadets at Chatham (where he introduced an observatory) and in 1836 became an observer at the Greenwich observatory. For nine years from 1837, after being placed in charge of the Woolwich dockyard, he worked for the Admiralty. It was then that the British government concluded that as Governor of Van Diemen’s Land they needed an engineer officer. (The name Van Diemen’s Land was used officially until 1855 but, unofficially, Tasmania was in use by 1823.) Denison was appointed and took up his post in January 1847 with the task of reorganizing convict labour. He was a strict man, believing that punishment was meant to deter crime and that talk about the reform of convicts was maudlin sentiment. Idleness, he believed, was at the root of ninety crimes in a hundred and he favoured forced labour with imprisonment. Every man who disobeyed the law, in Denison’s self-assured view, should suffer the full penalty allotted him. In the course of his service in Tasmania he was asked to make recommendation for an elective legislature and strongly favoured a two-chamber system ‘to check the development of the democratic spirit’. Denison did not share the view of most Tasmanians that the transportation of convicts should be ended and despite much diligent work to further education, charity and public works, was not popular there. He was to find his task in New South Wales even more difficult as it moved, with much debate and conflict, towards responsible government.107




    On 13 January, the day that Sir William Denison sailed with his family for Sydney from Tasmania, twenty horses hauled the first of the four locomotive engines ordered from Robert Stephenson’s company in New-castle-on-Tyne from Campbell’s wharf in Sydney to Slade’s dairy paddock (now Eveleigh). (The first four engines and tenders weighed thirty-three and a half tons empty and had a working boiler pressure of 120 pounds per square inch.) No. 1 engine was placed on rails and moved, again by horses, to a temporary engine shed near the present Redfern station for pre-service preparation. There was still a great amount of work to do. Only a little over three miles of the thirteen and a half miles of double track between Sydney and Parramatta had been laid at the beginning of the year, though the permanent way was ready for ballasting for a distance of nine miles. Completion of the elegant and massive viaduct over Long Cove Creek (Lewisham) was three months off. The first stone viaduct in Australia, it had eight stone arches, each thirty feet in width, with brick sides and parapets to carry the double lines sixty feet above the stream. But the Government’s ever-increasing commitment of public funds for the Parramatta line and what was widely regarded as the collapse of the Sydney Railway Company provoked new debate on the whole railway question. It began with an article in the Sydney University Magazine which argued that ‘No railroad will be of any advantage to the Colony unless the traffic be such as to yield a fair interest upon the outlay . . . To be really useful it must be self-supporting. If merely bolstered up by a Government grant it will be an expensive toy’. If, it argued, a government guarantee of 5 per cent would not induce the capitalist and colonist to finish the lines, ‘you have meddled with matters beyond your powers—you have made a wasteful, because a non-productive, outlay of capital’. Outlays by government should yield direct monetary returns. ‘The burden of the professor’s essay’, commented the Illustrated Sydney News, ‘is the melancholy conclusion that as a railroad will return nothing, so to nothing it must and will return’. Opponents of this view argued that it was narrow. ‘There are more senses than one’, wrote the Illustrated Sydney News on 14 April 1855, ‘in which a railway pays a country and, without yielding a dividend, may still be an invaluable acquisition’. The professor’s view was a feeble and contracted one. It drew a parallel with other government enterprises. ‘Let us take . . . the Post Office department. Neither in New South Wales nor in Victoria . . . does it pay its expenses; yet it would sound strange . . . to hear the Post Office condemned as an expensive toy and as useless because not self-supporting. The same with regard to ocean steam navigation.’ It drew attention to the characteristics of the Australian country, ‘its immense uninhabited regions—as if created too large for man to grapple with’. But it was not entirely uncritical of the railway enterprise.




    

      We have all along argued that we should begin with tram roads and end in railroads . . . A splendid railroad from hence to Parramatta . . . which has emptied our treasure chest . . . is all very well; but the cost of it would, on a less expensive scale, have covered with an iron network of steam communication large tracts of country, or perhaps have pushed a tramroad to Goulburn.


    




    The same journal commented colourfully on another invention that was to help the efficient functioning of railroads, the electric telegraph, ‘that strange machine which enables one side of a country to speak with another . . . regardless of the intervening hundreds of miles of hills, of streams, plains and cities, or even the ocean itself. The fleet-footed horse from the Arabian deserts ‘bred and nurtured in England to a speed that outdid all previous rapidities’ had been outdone. ‘Horseflesh, in its finest forms, may henceforth aid our sports, grace our vehicles, give vitality to our green pastures, but may no longer typify haste.’108




    While the railway debate flared, the final work on the line between Sydney and Parramatta was pressed towards completion. One of the last important steps took place in March when the superintendent of police, Captain M’Lerie laid the keystone of the central arch of the Long Cove viaduct: ‘I tender my sincere congratulations’, he said, ‘not only to yourselves but to the colonists generally upon the last keystone of this noble viaduct having now been laid, and so the link between Sydney and Parramatta being now completed’. Successive cheers were then given for Her Majesty109 On 10 May, at a special general meeting of shareholders in the rooms of the Sydney Railway Company in Elizabeth Street, a resolution was adopted to expedite the sale of the company to the government by agreeing to accept government debentures as payment. On 28 May 1855 Sir William Denison travelled to inspect the completed viaduct. He arrived with his party at the Cleveland Paddock at eleven o’clock and, with an engineer’s eye, examined the works, premises and machinery. ‘Here an extensive stone machine shop and a long wooden carriage shed have been erected’, reported the Illustrated Sydney News,




    

      and the locomotives and carriages are being fitted up. The engine, with a first class carriage and a luggage van, were on the line in the cutting beyond Botany Street . . . A large number of persons were assembled who cheered lustily as the first passenger carriage was started in New South Wales.


    




    The run was four and a half miles and took eleven minutes.




    

      The bank at the Parramatta end of the viaduct not being completed, the engine could go no further and the party alighted and examined this splendid structure, which is the heaviest work on the line . . . Several of those present had never seen a railway carriage and the comfort and simple elegance of the interior quite took them by surprise,


    




    said the News.110




    On 5 June Denison made his first speech to the Legislative Council. His themes were education, local government, local action in matters of health and roads, railways, steamship communication with England, immigration, the system of prison discipline, and the colony’s defence (seven months after the disastrous charge of the Light Brigade, in the slaughter of the Crimean war). They summarized the chief concerns of the Government in 1855.




    The time had come, the Governor said, to adapt the original convict regulations to the altered circumstances of the colony, ‘for the introduction of a system founded upon different principles which, while it will operate effectively in preventing crime through a wholesome dread of punishment inflicted, will yet not lose sight of the reformation of the offenders’. On defence, his attention had been drawn ‘at a very early period after my arrival . . . to the defenceless state of the city and harbour and to the consequent risk to which the inhabitants would be exposed should any unforeseen circumstances give to an enemy the temporary naval predominance of the seas’. (While the Volunteer Artillery Corps, at a dinner in the presence of the French consul in April, had proposed the health of his Imperial Majesty the Emperor Napoleon, the Illustrated Sydney News had acknowledged the source of current anxiety on 12 May in a frontpage essay tracing the rise and progress of the Russian monarchy and the gradual increase of Russian power from the ninth century. ‘Certain it is’, they wrote, ‘that the Russians believe it to be their mission to capture Constantinople’.)




    Denison promised a Bill establishing a general system of registration of births, deaths and marriages. The buildings of the Mint, he said, had been completed and ‘the machinery erected and the process of coinage has commenced’. In justification of the principle of public debt previously affirmed by the Council, he said that ‘the charge for public works, in the benefit from which posterity participates, should be met by means of loans’. Immigration was mentioned only briefly in his speech for it was in Victoria that the public was calling ‘for the immediate expulsion of the Chinamen and Tartars who have already arrived and for the total suppression of further Chinese immigration’. The indignation of the sister colony was, however, shared in New South Wales. The Illustrated London News reported, on 28 April, on the disgust and abhorrence of New South Wales miners towards ‘the Chinamen’.




    

      This, we believe, is to be found in the immoral and unnatural practices so prevalent amongst them, not to mention their recklessness in the waste of water, and the gambling and thieving propensities for which they are notorious. It is a serious matter to know that the influx of these barbarians carries with it a tide of immorality of so fearful a nature.


    




    On the matter of railways the Governor, as an experienced engineer, could speak with professional as well as viceregal authority. ‘Past experience’, he said,




    

      has proved the utter inadequacy of the common macadamised road to meet the daily increasing demand for transport of every kind and it is therefore obvious that, as the means of water carriage are in this colony so very limited, recourse must be had to an extensive system of railways, by which the country must be covered as with a network.


    




    In an obvious reference to the high cost of works on the double Parramatta line he commented: ‘I am not prepared to adopt for this colony a mode of construction which, by involving an inordinate amount of expenditure . . . must of course limit the distance over which it will be in the power of the colony to extend them’. Nature, said the Governor, had done little to facilitate the intercourse between one portion of the country and another; science and art should be called on to establish those means of ready communication without which no country could attain any pitch of prosperity or even civilization.111




    There was impatience now to see the railway at last in action and criticisms of each new delay. The Sydney Morning Herald, however, after a comment on the resistance to railways by those whom Dunmore Lang referred to as the Wentworth squatter clique, was mellow in its attitude on 12 July.




    

      The reflections of the Attorney-General upon the tardiness of the Railway Company were perhaps scarcely fair . . . Whatever may be accomplished by Sir William Denison, he has not to encounter the undisguised opposition of the most powerful interest in the colony. The future existence of railroads is a universal faith and any reasonable project, or even an unreasonable one, would win an amount of sympathy . . . The people will yet remember the struggling days with deep gratitude. They will separate the errors in execution and the vacillations in the Government from the noble idea which a few warmly cherished when the majority were hostile or cold.112


    




    As the day approached for the opening of the line, Sir William Denison looked ahead to the task of extending railways into the interior. He wrote to Lord John Russell, who was now Secretary of State for the Colonies, pressing the necessity for ‘a staff of officers thoroughly competent to superintend the construction of the various works which must soon be carried out, and especially the railroads, upon the effective and yet economical construction of which the prosperity of the Colony must depend’. He asked that steps be taken ‘to procure an efficient person to superintend the construction of railroads, at a salary not exceeding £1,000 per annum’ and urged that it be an officer of engineers. It was, he said, desirable to appoint officers of engineers because ‘their services are procured at a cheaper rate and . . . they are likely to bring to the work habits and a system widely different from those of the ordinary class of railway engineers’. There was also an advantage to the Home Government ‘in having in the Colony men on whom, in case of war, dependence can be placed’.113 He later modified the salary to £1500 and allowed that, failing the availability of an officer of engineers, a competent railway engineer would suffice. He stressed ‘the power of the engineer to think for himself, instead of being tied down by precedents’.114




    On 18 August the entire line was at last ready for the first trial trip. It took just thirty-nine and a half minutes and was described by the Sydney Morning Herald as ‘the successful consummation of a great national enterprise’.115 On 3 September the legal formalities were also at last concluded for the transfer of the property of the Sydney Railway Company to the government. On 18 September there was consternation when a part of the tunnel over the railway at Chippendale collapsed. With uncharacteristic speed a select committee reported on the following day that the accident had not been caused by any defect in the construction of the works but by heavy rain. ‘No danger is to be feared from the work in question . . . it may be used by the public without apprehension.’116




    All was now ready. Two terminal stations had been completed and four intermediate stations. In addition to the viaduct over Long Cove Creek and the tunnel at Redfern (Chippendale) there were twenty-seven bridges, fifty culverts, workshops and other buildings. On the day before the opening, Newtown’s first Stationmaster, in his uniform of top hat, frock coat and bell-bottomed trousers, presented himself with some twenty employees at the contractors’ office. Lined up on the pavement, they were inspected by the engineer and other officials before moving to the bar of a nearby hotel for the first railway conference in New South Wales. A policeman, in the chair, ordered that the rules and regulations be read aloud.117




    Wet and gloomy skies, on the morning of Wednesday 26 September 1855, had replaced the bright sunshine of the previous day. They did not deter, wrote the Sydney Morning Herald, thousands on thousands from congregating around the centre of attraction-the terminus on the Cleveland Paddock. ‘Never was a greater concourse assembled in New South Wales. People of many climes, of all ages and representing every class of society congregated to witness the opening of the colony’s greatest work.’ Every elevated spot and every piece of sloping ground was covered with human masses. Public offices, banks and almost all shops were closed. The flagstaff and the ships in the harbour’, wrote the Empire, ‘were gaily dressed in bunting’. There were flags along the route and at the station. ‘The omnibus conductors and touters had adopted a cry hitherto strange to the ears of the inhabitants. “The Railway” was vigorously and pertinaciously urged on the notice of the public.’ Hansoms and four-wheelers were in great demand. By ten o’clock great numbers had taken their tickets for Parramatta and were patiently waiting for the train to arrive at the station. ‘One train’, said the Empire, ‘had been previously despatched from Sydney at nine . . . but the eleven o’clock train may be regarded as the formal opening train’.118




    The Volunteer Rifle Corps, preceded by the band of the Xlth Regiment, entered the paddock and took station as guard of honour for His Excellency. The Mounted Police took position on each side of the road to preserve order and prevent confusion. In smart style the Volunteer Artillery Corps followed with their four field pieces, each drawn by two horses. A procession of the Brethren of the Ancient Order of Foresters marched to the paddock from the Rainbow Tavern in King Street.




    A little before eleven o’clock as the guard presented arms, and to a flourish of trumpets and a salute of nineteen guns, His Excellency Sir William Denison, in full Windsor uniform and escorted by the Volunteer Yeomanry Corps, arrived at the station. But when the train pulled in, even the Governor was forgotten.




    

      A great rush ensued. People were to be seen literally diving in at the openings in the sides of the third class carriages . . . a mighty pushing and squeezing ensued in the second class. Nor, with the exception of His Excellency, were the first class passengers exempt from the general strife.


    




    Many had to make do with inferior accommodation and others had to wait for the next train.




    At twenty minutes past eleven the train, with 2 first-class, 4 second-class and 5 third-class carriages, moved slowly from the shed. From the fields next to the Cleveland Paddock, wrote the Empire, the Volunteer Artillery fired a salute of twenty-one guns. ‘To the booming of the cannons were added the cheers of the immense multitudes who filled the arena immediately adjoining the terminus and who lined the way until the train had passed the most distant suburbs of the city.’




    For those on board, it was a comfortable journey at a leisurely pace, all gaiety, surprise and beauty. People crowded on the embankments and bridges, the terraces of the villas and the verandas and garden walks to watch and wave. ‘Many, too, were the bursts of laughter . . . excited by the ludicrous spectacle of cattle, sheep and dogs rushing with every appearance of the utmost terror into the adjoining scrubs.’ The scenes were unfamiliar. Just after Chippendale they saw ‘an extensive, undulating plain which might be called the downs of Botany’, spreading out as far as the eye could reach. ‘Numerous gardens, cottages, and some more pretending [sic] dwellings gave to the scene an air of settled rusticity.’




    As the train pulled into the terminus about a mile from the centre of Parramatta, the crowds and the city were as festive as they had been in Sydney. The Governor and his viceregal party proceeded to the Williams Family Hotel and sat down to a cold collation while the other passengers spread themselves among other hotels and inns. There were many toasts and many speeches but it was Sir William Denison who captured the sentiments of the day. The line between Sydney and Parramatta, he said, was the first great step to the time when the whole country would be covered in a network of railways. His Excellency toasted the originators of the railway, ‘mentioning the names of Mr Cowper and Mr Kemp’.119
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    Sir William Denison, Governor of New South Wales, already had strong views on railways. A few weeks after the formal opening of the line to Parramatta he wrote to a colonel in the Royal Engineers: ‘What is to be done . . . to rescue this country from the sterility to which it is condemned? What means have we of opening it out and giving to the land a value which will ensure its becoming saleable? Roads, say some; railroads, say I’.




    There was no place for steam locomotives, however, in the railways he planned.




    

      I do not contemplate the employment of locomotive engines . . . neither do I wish to attain great speed if this speed involves a corresponding outlay of money upon the road, [he wrote]. I do not wish for passengers a rate of more than ten or twelve miles per hour and I contemplate that, for many years, horse traffic both for the conveyance of passengers and goods will be found cheaper and more easily managed than steam.


    




    Denison’s aim was not unreasonable in itself. He wanted the widest possible transport system for the colony at the lowest cost. Horse-drawn trains on cheap tracks laid mostly along the line of existing roads seemed to him far more likely to achieve his vision than hugely expensive steam locomotives travelling on elaborate permanent ways.




    A commitment to horse-drawn trains brought with it a need to reassess the nature of the rail track. ‘At present our main line is laid with heavy rails of seventy-five pounds to the yard; a large engine is employed to do the work’, he wrote.




    

      I am trying experiments upon the function of railway wheels, or rather upon their adhesion to wood as compared with iron, my object being to ascertain whether we may not be able to save much cutting in the undulating country through which the railways must pass and, by the use of wooden rails, to follow the lines of the ordinary roads without subjecting ourselves to either heavy rises or inclines or without being obliged, in turn, to avoid these. If I could manage to make such lines for £5000 or £6000 per mile I should not hesitate an instant to recommend the construction of such a network of railways as would cost, in the course of twenty years, upwards of twenty millions. This would not all be floating debt; much would be paid off by the increase in the value of land . . . The Government possesses 200 million acres of land; if by the sacrifice of, say, ten or fifteen millions of these we can give to the remainder a value which it has not, neither can hope to have without improved means of communication, the bargain would be a satisfactory one—for the remaining 190 millions would be worth far more than the original 200 millions.1


    




    His preference for the horse as motive power was as likely a reflection of his innate conservatism as it was a rational assessment of railway economics. A big man with blue-grey eyes and balding brown hair above white side whiskers, his background as soldier-engineer, his large family and his love of hunting and fishing all indicated a person with settled habits.2 He expressed his conservatism plainly in a letter to his mother-in-law, Lady Hornby (‘My dearest Mammy’):




    

      The papers infer . . . relative to the mode of electing an Upper House . . . that I shall be ready to do my best to overthrow a system adverse to my views but they are grievously mistaken. I look upon change as an evil of great magnitude, not to be encountered unless for the removal of some greater evils or the introduction of some special good. I shall therefore not . . . accede to the prayer of a petition to be addressed to me asking me to dissolve the present Legislative Council.3


    




    To his mother he wrote that the railways in Victoria would cost £30 000 per mile but that he hoped ‘for the same money to construct six times the number of miles; not perhaps so substantially or luxuriously but quite strong enough for common purposes and for speeds of ten to twelve miles per hour’.4




    Though the new Governor was conservative in his views he was not reluctant to expound them. James Macarthur told his brother:




    

      What we have seen of him and his [family] induce us to form a very favourable opinion of their social qualities. As a [rule] I fear he wants caution and deliberation in arriving at conclusions, and tact in submitting his plans to those who are to decide upon them . . . I fear Sir William Denison is too impulsive. . . [He] is quick, clever and sagacious but not fit to rule. He is far too impetuous and impulsive, very unguarded and yet not pugnacious with all this opportunity . . . The fact is, none of his whims wear the mark of having been deliberately settled and adopted. It is very unfortunate that such a man should have been placed over us at this critical juncture . . . The fact is that Sir William over-estimates himself.5


    




    Later he acknowledged some optimism. ‘I think [he] will get on well. He is so truly gentlemanlike, frank and good natured, although too prompt of speech and act—defects which he is sensible enough to admit, and to express a determination to avoid in future.’6




    Randle, who was contractor for the construction of the Parramatta line, now became manager of its operations. A few weeks before the opening, the Commissioners accepted his terms for leasing and working the service for a period of twelve months. For 55 per cent of the gross earnings, Randle agreed to maintain and operate the line and pay all its expenses except the salaries of the main Stationmasters and half the salaries of intermediate Stationmasters.7 Only six weeks after the start of the Sydney–Parramatta railway service the Sydney Morning Herald commented:




    

      The successful results that have already attended the working of the Parramatta line have removed this greatest of colonial experiments from the province of speculation and conjecture . . . Irrespective of any results reducible to dividends, the profits of any system of internal communication combining the requisites of speed, regularity and availability at all seasons would be positive and tangible.8


    




    Sir William himself, despite his abhorrence to change, was later to expound similar views. He wrote:




    

      In undertaking the construction of railways by the Government upon a large scale, it would perhaps be wise to relinquish altogether the idea of obtaining any direct benefit from them in the shape of interest on capital and to be content with the indirect returns accruing from the saving in the cost of transport and the increase in the value of property.9


    




    Looking to the future extension of the Parramatta line, the Herald wrote: ‘In fostering the growth of a class of freehold settlers—men living and rearing families on their own lands—it will lay the best foundation for a healthy and vigourous nationality. So close is the alliance between the material and scientific achievements of these latter days and the moral and political developments of society’. The Herald recounted the victories of the iron horse in Europe ‘practically destroying the distance that separated cities and kingdoms’, but it saw for it ‘a higher mission and a more appropriate work in a virgin country like our own’. Here, it wrote, ‘the work of the railway will be to disperse rather than to centralise; to found and foster distant settlements’.10




    The early success of the new line in attracting passengers had its effect in the closing session of the Legislative Council. In voting on the railway estimates sent down by the Governor-General, the House approved the sum of £600 000 for the year 1856, to be raised by loan, for the purpose of extending railways throughout the County of Cumberland connecting Sydney, Parramatta, Liverpool, the Cowpastures, Windsor and Penrith, as well as extending the Northern Line from East Maitland towards Singleton. The debate in the House was not completely without controversy. One member (James Martin, later to become Premier) took the opportunity to imply that as the contractor, Randle, had come from England in the company of the engineer, Wallace, he had, because of this prior relationship, improperly been given facilities that amounted to a perfect monopoly. Both the Sydney Morning Herald and the People’s Advocate rubbished this inference. Martin, said the Advocate, ‘utters more sound accompanied with less sense than any man of his standing in the House’.11




    [image: ]




    Randle found his leased railway immediately in competition with local horse-drawn buses, and in November he reduced the fares between Sydney and Newtown by threepence for each class to ninepence for first class, sixpence for second and threepence for third. (The buses charged sixpence.) In Sydney and Parramatta arrangements were made with local bus proprietors to carry people free of charge to the railway station. (The approach to the Sydney terminal, a bare, corrugated iron shed, was often bogged.) In that same month, on 20 November, Randle attended a modest ceremony at the quiet town of Liverpool where the first sod was turned for the Liverpool extension of the line from Sydney. Though the locals celebrated, the mighty from Sydney were absent. ‘It is rather a matter of surprise’, wrote the People’s Advocate,




    

      that a more widespread feeling of interest was not evinced on so important an occasion and that the people of Liverpool should be left so entirely to themselves to enjoy the first act in an undertaking intended to benefit the whole country’. Randle promised, amid cheers, to complete the extension within the contracted time of nine months.12


    




    At the end of 1855 Randle had carried 98 846 passengers on the Sydney–Parramatta line. Gross revenue was £9248 10s 3d and, after deduction of his agreed share of 55 per cent and the payment of other expenses, the return to the Treasury on its outlay of half a million pounds was 2.75 per cent.13




    Denison wrote at some length in March 1856 to the young, witty, wealthy and formidable diplomat, Henry Du Pre Labouchere (the new Secretary of State for the Colonies) in London on his impressions of the colony that he had come to govern. He began with a reference to that indispensable tool of government and commerce, the unofficial communication with those in authority.




    

      I have been in the habit of writing privately to the Secretary of State upon matters which, though not strictly official, are yet of importance in tending to throw a light upon the state of public feeling and upon the influences at work upon colonial Society; subjects like these cannot be alluded to in public Despatches, more especially since a practice has crept in of printing these . . . I very gladly avail myself of the permission given me by you of recommencing a practice by which I may be able to make myself more clearly understood than I could hope to do by official correspondence.


    




    He would, he said, comment on the general state of society and on the state of politics.




    

      I have been very much struck with the . . . mental torpor prevailing throughout the Colony. I have heard it attributed sometimes to the effects of climate, sometimes to the want of means of education. Climate . . . may act upon the body in making it more inert and this may react upon the mind but the character of the education which has been given to the children coupled with the . . . wishes of the parents to return to England are to my mind the main cause of the evil. Men come out to these Colonies not for the purpose of changing their home and establishing themselves and their families in a new world but for the sole purpose of accumulating by hook or by crook a sufficient sum to enable them to return to England to enjoy life. The result of this is a sacrifice of the present to the future . . . not only of present enjoyment to the individual but of duties to society. A man will go into the Bush with a flock of sheep, will lead the life of a mere shepherd, will allow his mind to dwell but upon the one object, the increase of his stock . . . He lays out no capital upon comforts and conveniences, he thinks not of improving the country, he has no general views, his thoughts centre on himself and he ceases in fact to be a member of a community.


    




    It was an attitude, he said, observed by the children, ‘a ruling principle upon which their parents act, and the example is a bad one’.




    It was also an attitude, he wrote, ‘that acts upon us politically and gives great scope to political adventurers; men who have all the evils which prevail in political causes, who think that the ballot will make men virtuous’. The consequence was ‘that attention is turned from the real, practical questions in which the Colony is deeply interested—from education, from improvements of means of communication’. Denison was not, he said, opposed to political reform. ‘I am strongly in favour of all the changes which tend to bring legislation into harmony with the people and the age.’ He objected to the ‘exaggerated representation which would seem to expect that the people were made by the Institutions and not the Institutions by the people’.14 It was, for the new Governor, a time of turmoil and change. He faced a newly elected parliament which, he told Labouchere, comprised ‘so-called conservatives’ and ‘liberals, or rather, republicans’. He discussed the feeling in the mother country ‘to the question of separation from the control of England’. The old colonial theory, he wrote, ‘that a Colony is a recipient for English manufactures and a supplier of raw produce to the manufacturers is no longer entertained’. Many people were flying to the opposite extreme and seemed to think that colonies were an embarrassment rather than a benefit and would ‘gladly, I believe, see them quietly got rid of’. Such a course, in Denison’s view, was likely to lead to internal convulsions and external quarrels. ‘Take, for instance, Victoria and New South Wales. There is a feeling of antagonism, not to say of antipathy on the part of the former against the latter’, compounded of dislike and jealousy at the position of superiority ‘which this Colony is supposed to hold’.15 In a further letter on 21 July he wrote:
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